Aus der Abteilung für Klinische Pharmakologie

Direktor: Prof. Dr. med. S. Endres

Medizinische Klinik und Poliklinik IV

Klinik der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

Direktor: Prof. Dr. med. M. Reincke

Characterization of bispecific antibodies that drive synthetic agonistic receptor transduced T cells to mediate specific and conditional therapy in human pancreatic cancer models



Dissertation

zum Erwerb des Doktorgrades der Humanbiologie

an der Medizinischen Fakultät der

Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität zu München

vorgelegt von

Mohamed-Reda Benmebarek

aus Constantine

2021

Mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät

der Universität München

1. Berichterstatter: Prof. Dr. Sebastian Kobold

Mitberichterstatter:

Prof. Dr. David Anz Prof. Dr. Paolo Brenner Prof. Dr. Tobias Feuchtinger

Mitbetreuung durch die

promovierten Mitarbeiter:	Dr. Felicitas Rataj, Ph. D.
	Prof. Dr. Stefan Endres

Dekan: Prof. Dr. med. dent. Reinhard Hickel

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 15. 04. 2021

Eidesstattliche Versicherung

Hiermit versichere ich, dass diese Dissertation selbstständig angefertigt wurde, ich mich außer den angegebenen Hilfsmitteln keiner weiteren bedient habe und alle Erkenntnisse, die aus dem Schrifttum ganz oder annähernd übernommen wurden, als solche kenntlich gemacht und nach ihrer Herkunft unter Bezeichnung der Fundstelle einzeln nachgewiesen sind.

Des Weiteren versichere ich, dass die hier vorgelegte Dissertation nicht in gleicher oder in ähnlicher Form bei einer anderen Stelle zur Erlangung eines akademischen Grades eingereicht wurde.

München, den 30.06.2020

.....M.R. Benmebarek.....

Mohamed-Reda Benmebarek

Table of Contents

1	Introduction	1
	1.1 Cancer immunotherapy	1
	1.1.1 Hallmarks of cancer	1
	1.1.2 The role of the immune system in tumor progression	2
	1.2 Adoptive T cell therapy	2
	1.3 Synthetic receptors in T cell therapy	4
	1.4 Bispecific antibodies	5
	1.5. The synergy of BiAbs with ACT	6
	1.6 Characterizing the SAR-BiAb approach in the pancreatic cancer setting	8
	1.7 Aims	10
2	Material and Methods	11
	2.1 Machines and reagents	11
	2.2 Molecular biology methods	15
	2.2.1 Synthetic agonistic receptor cloning via overlap-extension polymerase chain reaction	15
	2.3 Cell lines	16
	2.3.1 Tumor cell lines	16
	2.3.2 Virus production	16
	2.3.3 STR profiling	17
	2.4 Cytotoxicity assays	17
	2.5 Cytokine release assays	18
	2.6 Bispecific antibody depletion <i>in vitro</i> assay	18
	2.7 Animal Experimentation	18
	2.7.1 Xenograft models	18
	2.7.2 <i>In vivo</i> imaging	19
	2.8 Single cell analysis by flow cytometry	19
	2.8.1 Flow cytometry staining	19
	2.9 Confocal microscopy	19
	2.9.1 Confocal image acquisition	20
	2.9.2 Confocal microscopy staining	20
	2.10 Statistical Analysis	20

3	Results21
	3.1. SAR expression and BiAb binding
	3.2 A closer look at SAR activation requirements
	3.3 BiAb-mediated effects on SAR T cell activation in presence of target cells25
	3.4 SAR-transduced T cells form functional immunological synapses, to mediate efficient tumor-cell lysis
	3.5 Recombinant protein inhibition of SAR-BiAb activity
	3.6 Selective and reversible activation of SAR T cells and their applied safety-switches $\!$
	3.7 Impact and functionality of SAR-BiAb combination in pancreatic cancer xenograft models 31
4	Discussion
	4.1 SAR and BiAb design for controlled T cell activation and tumor cell lysis
	4.1.1 SAR Design
	4.1.2 BiAb design
	4.2 The importance of the immunological synapse to SAR functionality
	4.3 Target antigen specificity and the conditional activation of human SAR T cells for tumor cell lysis
	4.4 The selective and modular nature of the SAR-BiAb platform in cancer therapy 41
	4.5 Approaches to improve SAR T cell functionality
	4.6 in vivo functionality – Understanding the shortcomings and room for improvement . 43
5	Conclusions and outlook
6	Abstract
7	Bibliography
8	Abbreviations
9	Publications
1	0 Curriculum Vitae
1	1 Acknowledgements

Introduction

1.1 Cancer immunotherapy

1.1.1 Hallmarks of cancer

Two decades ago, Hanahan and Weinberg eloquently dubbed the rules that govern the neoplastic transformation of healthy cells and tissues into malignant cancer as the hallmarks of cancer (Hanahan *et al.* 2000). They broke these hallmarks down into six acquired alterations in cellular physiology: self-sufficiency in growth signals, evasion of apoptosis, insensitivity to anti-growth signals, limitless replicative potential, tissue invasion and metastasis and sustained angiogenesis. These hallmarks are all underpinned and accelerated by genomic instability, creating heterogeneity and inflammation (Hanahan *et al.* 2011).

Over the time period it takes for a tissue pathology to develop into a neoplastic lesion, intermediate evolutionary pre-malignant steps are passed, as cells begin to circumvent natural cell breaks and suppressive mechanisms. An accumulation of multiple driver mutations each conferring a type of growth advantage, is a sequential and stochastic process that slowly turns healthy cells cancerous (Balmain *et al.* 1993, Negrini *et al.* 2010). Underlying factors behind these alterations can be both inherited and acquired. These mutations can affect two categories of genes, oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes. Oncogenes bestow cancer cells with a dominant gain of function, and often play a role in the stimulation of controlled cellular proliferation. Tumor suppressor genes are behind the changes that result in a recessive loss of function (Weinberg *et al.* 1994). One example is p53, a tumor suppressor gene that plays a role in the regulation or progression of a cell through the cell cycle, and its arrest in the presence of DNA damage. If mutated, the ability of the cell to control its progression through the cell cycle, as part of the DNA damage response, becomes dysregulated (Negrini *et al.* 2010).

1.1.2 The role of the immune system in tumor progression

The idea that the immune system acts as a sentinel, in recognizing and eliminating newly transformed cells is the basis for the longstanding theory of immunosurveilance, first established by Burnet and Thomas in 1957 (Burnet *et al.* 1957). Built upon this is the concept of immunoediting, outlining the dual role the immune system plays in protecting the host from tumor formation while simultaneously driving tumor cell evolution (Dunn *et al.* 2002, Dunn *et al.* 2004). The process by which the immune system copes with tumor growth is understood across three stages of tumor development: elimination, equilibrium and escape. In the elimination phase, transformed cells express differentially expressed antigens that make them more easily targetable by immune cells. This process drives the clonal evolution of tumor cells, eventually allowing them to enter the equilibrium phase. Despite managing to control tumor growth, immune evasion mechanisms prevent complete tumor cell eradication. The progressive development of these mechanisms, together with an ability to shape their environment and the very immune cells they are evading, inevitably enables tumor escape (Schreiber *et al.* 2011, O'Donnell *et al.* 2019).

Tumor cells interact with different types of stromal cells (such as mesenchymal stromal cells), cancer-associated fibroblasts, and immune cells (such as myeloid-derived suppressor cells and T cells), collectively referred to as the tumor microenvironment (TME) (Joyce *et al.* 2009, Rabinovich *et al.* 2007, Sakaguchi *et al.* 2008) The TME plays a crucial role in both the development and survival of cancer cells. Inter-cellular bi-directional cross-talk between stromal and immune cells in the TME, including the release of pro-tumoral cytokines (e.g. IL-6, IL-10 and IL-22), growth factors (e.g. TGF- β , VEGF and PDGF) and matrix remodelling enzymes (e.g. MMPs) supports and shapes this milieu (Voigt *et al.* 2017, Nawaz *et al.* 2018,Gorelik *et al.* 2002,Gerlini *et al.* 2004, Kurte *et al.* 2004). These play important roles in tumorigenesis, as they shape an environment that is most favourable for tumor growth, enabling malignant cells to escape the host's anti-tumor immune responses (Hanahan *et al.* 2011).

1.2 Adoptive T cell therapy

A disrupted equilibrium within the TME is often a crucial enabling factor for tumor formation. Immunotherapy, which is based on the exploitation of the autologous immune response to a neoplastic process, is an effective, and in some cases curative cancer therapy that aims to shift the balance back in favour of the anti-tumoral immune response (Mellor *et al.* 2003,Schneider *et al.* 2006,Pardoll *et al.* 2012) . T cells are plastic immune cells that have been implicated to play diverse roles in driving and controlling tumor growth. Nevertheless, T cells have repeatedly been shown to be effective and dynamic mediators of anti-tumoral immunity, and their therapeutic use is termed adoptive T cell therapy (ACT) (June *et al.* 2007, Kalos *et al.* 2013).

ACT requires the harvest, expansion and re-infusion of T_{eff} cells into a patient (Melief *et al.* 1992) . ACT initially depends on the ability to genetically engineer or select for cells with targeted antigen specificity. Beyond this, one must be able to induce these cells to proliferate, persist and survive, and mediate their anti-tumoral effector functions (Rosenberg *et al.* 2015).

Three independent ACT approaches have stemmed from the idea that tumor-specific T cells could eliminate cancer. Tumor infiltrating lymphocyte (TIL) therapy was the first approach to be implemented and relied on the harvest of T cells directly from a tumor, before their *ex vivo* expansion, activation and ultimate reinfusion back into the patient. This approach is advantageous because it does not harbour the risks associated with genetic engineering. However, scarce access to resectable tumors or metastases, labour-intensive T cell preparation and limited numbers of tumor-reactive T cell clones have so far hampered this strategy's success (Rosenberg *et al.* 1988, Wu *et al.* 2012).

The other two approaches rely on genetic engineering to confer T cells, isolated from peripheral blood, with a specificity to recognize tumor antigens via carefully engineered constructs. T cell receptor (TCR)-engineered T cells started being generated to confront some of the drawbacks of TIL therapy. Using viral transduction, isolated T cells are genetically engineered to possess tumor-specificity through recognition of MHC-restricted peptides (June *et al.* 2007). Binding of these peptides by the TCR activates T cells and induces a cytotoxic response. TCR-mediated specificity is restricted as a result of a reliance on the expression of tumor antigens through their MHC complexes (Harris *et al.* 2016). The final ACT approach, the use of chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-modified T cells, will be discussed in greater detail in the next section.

3

1.3 Synthetic receptors in T cell therapy

CAR T cell therapy is a leading adoptive T cell therapy (ACT) approach. CARs are synthetic constructs use a single-chain variable fragment (scFv) to bind surface-bound target antigens.

In the initial concept, the target-binding domain was linked to a cytoplasmic signalling subunit made up of part of the cluster of differentiation (CD)-3 ζ chain, that would trigger T cell activation following antigen binding. More precisely, these two gene segments are linked via a transmembrane domain and an extracellular hinge module, coming together to form the simplest form of a CAR, known as a first-generation CAR. The TCR CD3 ζ chain contains three immuno-tyrosine activation motifs (ITAMs) (Wange *et al.* 1996) . As a result, this module alone can propagate a strong signal 1 without needing the rest of the TCR-CD3 complex (the gamma, delta and epsilon chains) (Geiger *et al.* 1999, Haynes *et al.* 2001).

Signalling is started when ITAMs are phosphorylated by lymphocyte-specific protein tyrosine kinase (Lck) within the endodomain of CD3. Building on this, strides taken to ameliorate the CAR molecule gave rise to second and third generation CAR structures that incorporated signalling cytoplasmic domains, such as CD28, 41BB, and ICOS, in efforts to recapitulate the added signal that is delivered following TCR recognition by antigen presenting cells (APCs) (Porter *et al.* 2011, Guedan *et al.* 2014).

This co-stimulatory signal, where in the case of CD28 for example is driven by phosphoinositide 3-kinase PI3K (Krogsgaard *et al.* 2005, Zhang *et al.* 2017) is needed for full T cell activation (Love *et al.* 2010). Additional advances into next (fourth or fifth) generation CAR T cells incorporated cytoplasmic signalling components from cytokine receptors or inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-12 or IL-18, with an inducible expression (Kerkar *et al.* 2010, Chmielewski *et al.* 2014).

4

1.4 Bispecific antibodies

Proteins made up of fragments from two different monoclonal antibodies, brought together to recognize two different epitopes or antigens are broadly referred to as bispecific antibodies (BiAbs). These man-made antibody-based molecules were first described over 50 years ago by Nisonoff and colleagues (Nisonoff *et al.* 1960) who combined two antigenbinding sites in one molecule. Naturally occurring bivalent antibodies contain identical binding sites which are made up of determinants from both the heavy (H) and the light (L) chain. An initial challenge for BiAb development was the chain association issue, which resulted in the unwanted pairings of heavy and light chains. As a result, obtaining a functional BiAb from a mixture of ten potential H_2L_2 recombinations (through the coexpression of two H and two different L chains) was tedious to say the least. Over the years, numerous strategies emerged with the goal of improving the yield as well as homogeneity of the final product (Brinkmann *et al.* 2017).

The generation of fragment-based formats – an approach that simply combines several antibody-binding regions (Ab fragments) – was a simple and effective approach that effectively circumvented the chain-association issue (Birch *et al.* 2006). The format lacks an Fc region, while facile co-expression of the polypeptide chains in lower expression systems (eukaryotic or prokaryotic) was cost-effective and reaped higher yields. Fc-deficient formats are however susceptible to catabolism by the neonatal Fc receptor and have a shorter half-life as a result (Demarest *et al.* 2008, Lowe *et al.* 2011).

The development of the 'knob-into-hole' (KiH) technology enabled correct heavy chain heterodimerization (Ridgway *et al.* 1996, Merchant *et al.* 1998). Importantly, correct light chain association in bispecific heterodimeric IgG antibodies was eventually also enabled by the development and description of immunoglobulin domain crossover 'CrossMAb' technology (Schaefer *et al.* 2011). The technology relies on antibody domain crossover within one Fab-arm of a bispecific IgG antibody in order to allow for correct chain association, whereas correct heavy chain association can be ensured by, amongst other approaches, KiH and electrostatic steering (Ridgway *et al.* 1996, Gunasekaran *et al.* 2010). Using domain crossover, any antibody pair can be used to derive many of the formats that have

been described since, including bivalent 1+1, trivalent 2+1 and tetravalent 2+2 (Labrijn *et al.* 2019).



Figure 1: A selection of BiAb formats. Various antibody formats with multiple valencies, binding arms, halflives and functions. Left to right. Tandem scFvs with two monovalent binding arms and no Fc-region. 1+1 asymmetric with two monovalent binding arms and an Fc region. 1+2 asymmetric with bivalent for one antigen 1 and monovalent for antigen 2, also has an Fc region. 2+2 symmetric bivalent for both antigens and contains an Fc region. BiAbs that are Fc-deficient have a relatively short half-life due to a lack of protection from the neonatal Fc receptor, FcRn. The P329G LALA mutation abolishes FcyR binding, silencing the Fc region.

1.5. The synergy of BiAbs with ACT

Earlier work from our group could demonstrate how BiAbs can be synergised with ACT for improved anti-tumoral immunity. Initial work could show that BiAbs specific for both T cell and tumor cell could bridge T cells with tumor cells and improve the killing efficiency of tumor specific T cells (Kobold *et al.* 2014). More recently, the group began to develop the approach in efforts to create an MHC-unrestricted platform that could mediate specific and conditional T cell activation and tumor cell lysis. To achieve this, specially designed fusion receptors named synthetic agonistic receptors (SARs) were developed. SARs are constituted of an extracellular domain – itself inert and not present on any naturally occurring T cell – fused to intracellular T cell activating domains.

The unique expression of the SAR ectodomain means an exogenous, controllable, modular and specific molecule is required for its triggering. Bispecific antibodies (BiAbs) perfectly fit that bill, and the importance of BiAb design in the context of SAR activation is described below. The combination of SAR-transduced T cells with BiAbs was initially tested in the murine setting, where SAR-transduced T cells were shown to be functional and specific. Important work that was crucial for this initial characterization was carried out by the former doctoral students Matthias Kurzay, Moritz Luigi Schmidbauer and Clara Karches (Schmidbauer, 2018, Karches *et al.* 2019).

In the context of the work described herein, the SAR construct is made up of an EGFRvIII extracellular domain, linked to a CD28 transmembrane domain. Intracellularly, signalling is propagated by the intracellular CD28 domain and CD3ζ. EGFRvIII was chosen as the extracellular domain, an antigen not present on normal cells and restricted to particular tumor entities such as glioblastoma. The rationale in choosing the intracellular domains drew from the CAR T cell experience, where several second-generation CARs, including the FDA approved Yescarta successfully employ CD3ζ to initiate signal 1 and CD28 for the costimulatory signal necessary for full blown T cell activation (Boyiadzis *et al.* 2018).

Our collaborators at Roche developed a trivalent and bispecific (two specificities for MSLN and a single specificity for EGFRvIII) CrossMab. This design was developed with knowledge from preliminary studies that demonstrated that a single specificity for EGFRvIII is necessary to avoid unwanted and off-tumor cross-linking of the SAR receptor, and the subsequent T cell activation that would result. The design included two binding arms (Fab) against MSLN to maximize tumor cell binding (Schmidbauer *et al.* 2018, Karches *et al.* 2019).

Following some promising results with the SAR-BiAb platform in preliminary murine studies, the purpose of this work was to determine the validity and efficacy of this approach in the human system. Through the generation of several human pancreatic cancer models, and extensive *in vitro* and *in vivo* testing, we aimed to characterize this platform. Specific T cell activation and target cell lysis, and as well as a demonstration of safety and controllability were critical aims in this regard. Through this characterization, we wanted to determine the translational relevance and significance of the approach as a stand-alone, next-generation adoptive T cell therapy with the potential to plug some pitfalls of current ACT approaches.



Figure 2: SAR and CAR T cell constructs. Divergence in design lies in the extracellular domain, where the CAR is composed of a scFv, while the SAR has an inert receptor. Additionally, the constructs are made up of several components, each of which leading towards the activation, functionality and persistence of the transduced T cells. Adapted from (Benmebarek *et al.* 2019).

1.6 Characterizing the SAR-BiAb approach in the pancreatic cancer setting

Over recent years, our understanding of T cell biology, heterogeneity and the functional divergence that arises from their exposure to different stimuli in various environments has drastically improved. T cell stability and plasticity have been shown to be regulated by several components; conditions (costimulation and cytokines), clonality and chromatin (Murphy *et al.* 2010). Cytokines and costimulation are the prime factors affecting T cell differentiation and stability (Murphy *et al.* 2000). Circuitry is defined as the network of interactions between transcription factors, and has also been implicated in stability, differentiation, as well as plasticity (Hwang *et al.* 2005, Zheng *et al.* 2010, Nurieva *et al.*

2007). The effect of chromatin modifications on active or repressed genes can be impactful on the maintenance of T cell phenotype and plasticity (Zhou *et al.* 2009, Wilson *et al.* 2009).

Within the TME, most T cells have been shown to be driven towards a hyporesponsive state of exhaustion, characteristically associated with an upregulation in inhibitory receptors, a decrease in effector cytokines and impaired cytotoxicity (Jiang *et al.* 2015,Wherry *et al.* 2015). In choosing to characterize the approach in human pancreatic tumor models, we sought to learn if SAR T cells can migrate to, infiltrate, and mediate anti-tumoral functions against a dense and immunosuppressive microenvironment. The impact of this milieu on SAR T cell phenotype and function was also of interest, the understanding of which having the potential to inform future SAR designs and treatment combinations.



Figure 3: The SAR-BiAb concept illustrated. Specific and conditional SAR T cell activation can only be mediated in a milieu where the tumor target, BiAb and SAR T cell are present.

1.7 Aims

Based on previous findings, this thesis aims to demonstrate the following:

- To characterize the SAR-BiAb platform in the human system specifically looking at the requirements for T cell activation and target cell lysis. As such, conditional specificity will be evaluated in the presence or absence of the target antigen, as well as determining the range and dose-dependent activity of the BiAb.
- To visualise the immune synapse at the SAR T cell-target cell interface. Specifically
 evaluating the function as well as characteristics of the synapse in comparison to
 those observed at the CAR or TCR-target cell interfaces.
- 3. To demonstrate the inherent safety, modularity and controllability facets of the platform *in vivo* and *in vitro*
- 4. To characterize the in vivo functionality if the platform in solid tumor xenograft models

2 Material and Methods

2.1 Machines and reagents

Machine Manufacturer Origin Analytical balance Satorius Laboratory Göttingen, Germany Cell culture flow HeraSAFE KS Massachusetts, USA Heraeus, ThermoFischerScientific **Centrifuge Rotina 420R** Hettich GmbH Tuttlingen, Germany ChemiDoc BioRad California, USA CO₂ – Incubator (BD6220) Massachusetts, USA Heraeus, **ThermoFischerScientific** FACS Canto II **BD** Biosciences New Jersey, USA **FACS** Fortessa New Jersey, USA **BD** Biosciences iCELLigence ACEA Biosciences Inc California, USA Innova44 Thermoshaker New Brunswick Scientific, Hamburg, Germany Eppendorf Leica TCS SP5 confocal system Leica Microsystems Wetzlar, Germany Light microscope Axiovert 40C New York, USA Zeiss LightCycler480 System Mannheim, Deutschland Roche **Multilabel Plate Reader** Mithras LB 940 Berthold Bad Wildbad, DE Nanodrop 2000c ThermoFischerScientific Massachusetts, USA pH 720 WTW inoLab GmbH Weilheim, DE PowerPac[™] Universal Power **Bio-Rad Laboratories** Munich, Germany Supply T3 Thermocycler Göttingen, Germany Biometra xCELLigence ACEA Biosciences Inc. California, USA

Table 1 Machines and devices

Table 2 Reagents

Reagent	Manufacturer	Origin
Albumin fraction V (BSA)	Sigma-Aldrich	Steinheim, Germany
Annexin A5	Thermofisher	Massachusetts, USA
Batimstat	Sigma-Aldrich	Steinheim, Germany
Calcium chloride	Sigma-Aldrich	Steinheim, Germany
CD178 (Fas Ligand) Monoclonal Antibody (NOK-1), functional grade	ThermoFischerScientific	Massachusetts, USA
CD178 (Fas Ligand) Monoclonal Antibody TNFSF6	RnD systems	Minneapolis, USA
Cetuximab	Apotheke Innenstadt	LMU Munich, Germany
Colagenase D	Sigma-Aldrich	Steinheim, Germany
Count Bright, counting beads	LifeTechnologies	California, USA
Dimethylsulfoxid (DMSO)	Sigma-Aldrich	Steinheim, Germany
DNase I	Roche	Mannheim, Germany
Dithiothreitol	Sigma-Aldrich	Steinheim, Germany
Dulbecco's modified Eagles medium DMEM	ΡΑΑ	Pasching, Austria
Dulbecco's Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS)	PAA	Pasching, Austria
Dynabeads human T-activator CD3/CD28	Invitrogen (ThermoFischerScientific)	Massachusetts, USA
EcoRI	NEB	Massachusetts, USA
EcoRV	NEB	Massachusetts, USA
Egtazic acid (EGTA)	Sigma-Aldrich	Steinheim, Germany
Ethanol 100 %	Carl Roth GmbH	Karlsruhe, Germany
Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA)	Sigma-Aldrich	Steinheim, Germany
FACSFlow, FACSSafe	BD Biosciences	New Jersey USA
GeneJet plasmid mini prep kit	ThermoFischerScientific	Massachusetts, USA

Heparin-sodium 2.500 IE / 5 ml	Braun AG	Melsungen, Germany
HEPES-buffer 1 M	Sigma-Aldrich	Steinheim, Germany
Human Granzyme B ELISA kit	RnD Systems	Minneapolis, USA
Human Interferon gamma ELISA kit	BD Biosciences	New Jersey USA
Human IL-2 ELISA Kit	BD Biosciences	New Jersey USA
Human serum	Sigma-Aldrich	Steinheim, Germany
Isofluoran	CP PHARMA	Burgdorf, Germany
Kasl	NEB	Massachusetts, USA
LB agar	Carl Roth GmbH	Karlsruhe, Germany
LB medium	Carl Roth GmbH	Karlsruhe, Germany
LE agarose	Biozym	Hessisch Oldendorf, Germany
L-glutamin 200 mM	PAA	Pasching, Austria
MEM non-essential amino acids (NEAA, 100x)	Gibco Products	New York, USA
N-Octyl-Beta-Glycopyranoside	Sigma-Aldrich	Steinheim, Germany
Notl	NEB	Massachusetts, USA
OneComp Beads	ThermoFischerScientific	Massachusetts, USA
peqGOLD TriFast	PEQ LABS	Erlangen, Germany
Penicillin/ Streptomycin (100x)	PAA	Pasching, Austria
Puromycin	InvivoGen	California, USA
Propidium Iodide	Thermofisher	Massachusetts, USA
Protease Inhibitor	Sigma-Aldrich	Steinheim, Germany
Q5 enzyme	NEB	Massachusetts, USA
RetroNectin	TaKaRa	Kyoto, Japan
RevertAid first strand cDNA synthesis kit	ThermoFischerScientific	Massachusetts, USA
Recombinant human etc. Amphiregulin	Peprotech	New Jersey USA

Recombinant Human Betacellulin	SinoBiological	Beijing, China
Recombinant Human Betacellulin (Fc Tagged)	SinoBiological	Beijing, China
Recombinant Human EGF	SinoBiological	Beijing, China
Recombinant Human EGF (Fc Tagged)	SinoBiological	Beijing, China
Recombinant human EGFR	SinoBiological	Beijing, China
Recombinant Human Epigen	PeproTech	New Jersey USA
Recombinant Human Epiregulin	PeproTech	New Jersey USA
Recombinant Human Epiregulin (Fc Tagged)	SinoBiological	Beijing, China
Recombinant Human HB-EGF	SinoBiological	Beijing, China
Recombinant Human Mesothelin (Fc tagged)	SinoBiological	Beijing, China
Recombinant Human TGF alpha	SinoBiological	Beijing, China
Rituximab	Apotheke Innenstadt	LMU Munich, Germany
Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI)	ΡΑΑ	Pasching, Austria
SERVA DNA Stain Clear G	SERVA	Heidlberg, Germany
Sodium chloride	Sigma-Aldrich	Steinheim, Germany
Sodium pyruvate	Gibco Products	Pasching, Austria
Sulphuric acid	Apotheke Innenstadt	LMU Munich, Germany
Tissue freezing medium	Leica biosystems	Nussloch, Germany
TNF alpha monoclonal antibody MP6-XT22	ThermoFischerScientific	Massachusetts, USA
Trypan blue	Sigma-Aldrich	Steinheim, Germany
Trypsin (10x)	PAA	Pasching, Austria
Tween 20	Carl Roth GmbH	Karlsruhe, Germany
Urea	Sigma-Aldrich	Steinheim, Germany

Table 3 Cell culture media

Medium	Composition	Medium	Composition
Human	VLE RPMI	RD clone medium	DMEM
T cell	2 % Human Serum		10 % FBS
	2 mM L-Glutamin		4 mM L-Glutamin
	100 IU/ml Penicillin		100 IU/ml Penicillin
	100 μg/ml Streptomycin		100 μg/ml Streptomycin
	1 mM Natrium-Pyruvat		
	1 % MEM-NEAA		
	50 μ M β -Mercaptoethanol		
Tumor	DMEM	Freezing	90 % FBS
	10 % FBS		10 % DMSO
	2 mM L-Glutamin		
	100 IU/ml Penicillin		
	100 μg/ml Streptomycin		

2.2 Molecular biology methods

2.2.1 Synthetic agonistic receptor cloning via overlap-extension polymerase chain reaction

The fusion of gene segments by overlap-extension PCR is a fast and effective way to create chimeric genes encoding novel proteins (Heckman *et al.* 2007). The human EGFRvIII-CD28-CD3ζ chimeric receptor construct (E3) is made up of human EGFRvIII (Uniprot Entry P00533 AA 1-29, 298-646), human CD28 (Uniprot Entry P10747 AA 153-220) and human CD3ζ (Uniprot Entry P20963 AA 52-164). The control construct E3^{del} is lacking the intracellular signalling domains CD28 and CD3ζ. SAR constructs were generated by Mathias Kurzay, a

former doctoral student in the laboratory. All SAR constructs were subsequently inserted into the retroviral vector pMP71 (Engels *et al.* 2003).

2.3 Cell lines

2.3.1 Tumor cell lines

The human mesothelin over-expressing cell-lines MIA PaCa-MSLN, SUIT-2-MSLN, and Flp-In-HEK293-MSLN (HEK-MSLN) were generated by transduction with pMXs (Kitamura 2003) containing full-length human mesothelin (MSLN, UNIPROT entry Q13421) cDNA. Likewise, the human glioblastoma cell line U251-MG was generated to express full-length human EGFRvIII (Uniprot Entry P00533 AA 1-29, 298-646). The cell line MSTO-mesothelinluciferase (MSTO-MSLN-LUC) was generated by transducing the MSTO-211H cells with lentiviruses (VSV-G pseudotyped) encoding full-length human MSLN and full-length firefly luciferase (ffLuc), sequentially. The cells were transduced with lentivirus encoding hMSLN. The gene encoding full-length human MSLN was cloned into the MCS of the lentiviral vector obtained from System Bioscience, pCDH-EF1a-MCS-T2A-Puro cDNA. The cells were then selected with puromycin at 5 μ g/mL for 2 to 3 days. Surviving cells were stained and confirmed with lentivirus encoding ffLuc. The gene encoding full-length ffLuc was cloned into the MCS of the lentivirus encoding ffLuc. The gene encoding full-length ffLuc was cloned into the MCS of the lentivirus encoding ffLuc. The gene encoding full-length ffLuc was cloned into the MCS of the lentivirus encoding ffLuc. The gene encoding full-length ffLuc was cloned into the MCS of the lentivirus encoding ffLuc. The gene encoding full-length ffLuc was cloned into the MCS of the lentivirus encoding ffLuc. The gene encoding full-length ffLuc was cloned into the MCS of the lentivirus vector obtained from System Bioscience, pCDH-CMV-MCS-EF1a-Neo. The cells were then selected with 5 μ g/mL of G418 for 2 to 3 days.

2.3.2 Virus production

For virus production retroviral pMP71 (kindly provided by C. Baum, Hannover) vectors carrying the sequence of the relevant receptor were stably expressed in packaging cell lines. Single cell clones were generated and screened for receptor expression levels, then screened for levels of virus production by determining the transduction efficiency of primary T cells. Using this method, we generated the producer cell lines 293Vec-RD114-E3, 293Vec-RD114-E3^{del}, and 293Vec-RD114-CAR-MSLN. 293Vec-Galv and 293Vec-RD114 were grown in DMEM with 10 % fetal bovine serum (FBS, Life Technologies, USA), 1 % penicillin and streptomycin (PS) and 2 % L-glutamine (all from PAA, Germany).

Table 5 Cell lines

HEK-MSLN	DMEM3+	Human embryonic kidney cells. Made from Flp-In 293- Cell line	ThermoFischerScientific
A375 DMEM3+		Human melanoma cells	Acquired from ATCC
U-251-MG		Human glioblastoma cells	
SUIT-2	DMEM3+	Human pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma cell line derived form a liver metastasis.	- Acquired from ATCC
MSTO-211H	-	Biphasic mesothelioma of the lung	-
MIA PaCa-2		Pancreas Carcinoma	
293Vec- Galv		Amphotropic packaging cell line.	Prof. Dr. Manuel Caruso
293Vec-RD114	RD clone medium	Amphotropic packaging cell line.	- (Québec, Canada)

2.3.3 STR profiling

All human cell lines were short tandem repeat profiled in house to verify their origin. Cells were used for a time period no longer than 2 months.

2.4 Cytotoxicity assays

T cells were coincubated with tumor cells and BiAb at indicated effector to target ratios and concentrations. The coculture conditions between transduced T cells and adherent target cells were set-up as indicated. For impedance-based real-time killing assays the xCELLigence instrument was used. The cell index parameter denoted is a measure of the relative change in electrical impedance, to represent cell status (adherence). All described calculations are based on the RTCA software version 1. The BioGlo cytotoxicity assay (Promega, USA) system was also used where indicated according to the manufacturer's protocol.

2.5 Cytokine release assays

Human T cell stimulation assays were set up at indicated concentrations and effector-totarget ratios. IFN-γ, IL-2 and Granzyme B were quantified by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA).

2.6 Bispecific antibody depletion in vitro assay

T cell and tumor cell coculture was set up at indicated antibody concentrations and effectorto-target ratios. SAR T cells were cocultured with BiAb before being added to the tumor cells. Anti-MSLN CAR T cells were used as a control and cocultured with tumor cells following the same procedure (no BiAb was added). After 24 h (time between each depletion) supernatants were collected, and T cells transferred onto a new plate with seeded tumor cells. T cells were either re-suspended with medium only or redosed with BiAb to control for the depletion. Three sequential assay depletions were performed. IFN- γ concentration in the supernatants was quantified by ELISA.

2.7 Animal Experimentation

2.7.1 Xenograft models

NSG mice (NOD.Cg-Prkdcscidll2rgtm1Wjl/SzJ) were purchased from Charles River. Suit-2-MSLN and MiaPaCa-MSLN xenograft models were established by subcutaneously injecting 5 x 10⁵ cells into the right flank. MSTO-MSLN-LUC xenograft model was established by subcutaneously injecting 10⁶ cells in a 1:1 ratio of PBS and Matrigel (Corning Life Sciences) into the right flank. BiAb and 10⁷ T cells were given intravenously as indicated. For the BiAb depletion, redosing schedule and antibody dosage were carried out as indicated. A total of six BiAb treatments were injected per mouse at 3, 6, 9, 13, 17, and 19 days after tumor injection. Mice were bled 6 hours after antibody redosing. All animal experiments were approved by the local regulatory agency (Regierung von Oberbayern) and adhered to the NIH guide for the care and use of laboratory animals. Endpoints were registered by an observer blinded to the treatment groups as previously defined (Karches *et al.* 2019).

2.7.2 In vivo imaging

For *in vivo* imaging, mice were injected with 100μ l of luciferin substrate (prepared according to the manufacturer's instructions) 10 minutes prior to imaging (Xenolight D-Luciferin potassium salt, Perkin Elmer, USA). IVIS Lumina X5 (Caliper Life Sciences, Perkin Elmer, USA) was used to acquire *in vivo* images. The Living Image Software 4.7.2 was used for analysis (Perkin Elmer, USA).

2.8 Single cell analysis by flow cytometry

Flow cytometry was carried out according to a previously published protocol (Voigt *et al.* 2017) Spleens were passed through 30 μ m cell strainers, following an erythrocyte lysis protocol. Tumors were digested with 1.5 μ g/ml collagenase IV and 50 U/ml DNAse I for 30 minutes at 37°C. Analysis was carried out with a BD FACS Canto II and Fortessa (BD Bioscience, Germany).

2.8.1 Flow cytometry staining

Dead cells were stained using the fixable viability violet dye (Biolegend) for 15 minutes at RT. This was followed by the blocking of Fc receptors with TruStain fcX (Biolegend) for 20 minutes at 4°C. For phenotype analysis surface staining was performed by anti-human CD8a (clone HIT8a, Biolegend), anti-human CCR7 (clone G04387, Biolegend), anti-human CD45RO (clone UCHL1, Biolegend), anti-human PD1 (clone EH12.2H7, Biolegend), anti-human EGFR (APC, clone AY13, Biolegend), anti-human CD45 (clone 2D1, Biolegend), anti-human CD3 (clone HIT3a, Biolegend), and anti-human CD4 (clone OKT4, Biolegend). Cells were washed and resuspended in PBS. For cell number quantification CountBright® absolute counting beads (Life Technologies) were added.

2.9 Confocal microscopy

Blinded confocal imaging and conjugate quantification were carried out following the selection of 10 representative areas of each slide. Cells in or out of conjugate within each area were quantified and a ratio thereof subsequently determined. For each conjugate, the position of the microtubule organizing center (MTOC) was observed, and its polarization to the immune synapse, or lack thereof, was noted. The ratio of polarized to non-polarized

MTOCs was used to determine the ratio of functional synapses out of all conjugates formed. Image acquisition and staining are outlined in the supplementary methods.

2.9.1 Confocal image acquisition

Samples for confocal laser scanning microscopy were examined using a Leica TCS SP5 confocal system (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany), with a HCX PL APO CS 63x/1.4 oil objective. For z-axis image reconstruction (stacking), confocal sections were taken 0.2 μ m apart, assembled using the Leica application suite v2.7.3.9723 (Leica Camera AG) and further processed by the open access program FIJI, based on image J (https://fiji.sc). For each marker, at least 20 conjugates were recorded by confocal microscopy per condition.

2.9.2 Confocal microscopy staining

SAR T cells were stained with anti-human Granzyme-B (clone GB11, BD), anti-human LFA-1 (clone CB5.4, BioLegend), anti-alpha tubulin, (clone DM1A, Abcam), anti-human Lck (BD Biosciences). F-actin was stained using Phalloidin-iFluor reagent (Abcam). Following conjugation in a 96-well V-bottom plate, cells were transferred onto a poly-L-lysine-coated (1 μ g/ml – Sigma, Germany) microscope slide (ThermoFisherScientific), and were allowed to adhere for 30 minutes, Then, fixation, permeabilization (BD Cytofix, BD Biosciences) and antibody staining were carried out according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.10 Statistical Analysis

Statistical evaluation was performed using GraphPad Prism software V8.3.1 (San Diego, CA, USA). Differences between experimental conditions were analysed as described in the figures. P values < 0.05 were considered to be significant. Data are shown as mean values with a SEM of a minimum of three biological replicates or independent experiments, as indicated.

3 Results

3.1. SAR expression and BiAb binding

In efforts to equip T cells with a controllable activating receptor, we generated a SAR construct made up of the extracellular domain of human EGFRvIII, linked to the intracellular CD28 and CD3ζ domains - E3. Control construct lacking the intracellular costimulatory domains was also generated, herein referred to as - E3^{del} (Figure 1A). Constructs could be retrovirally transduced into human T cells with high and comparable efficiencies (Figure 1B).



Figure 1: Schematic drawing of constructs and molecule and retroviral transduction of human CD3+ T cells. (A) E3 SAR and E3^{del} construct designs as well as schematic depiction of the 2+1 CrossMab. B) Flow cytometry plot depicting exemplary shift in SAR expression of transduced cells, with graph depicting range of transduction efficiencies from ten representative donors. Figure showing absolute transduction efficiencies from 10 healthy donors.

Using the CrossMab technology (Schaefer *et al.* 2011) a trivalent yet bispecific (2+1) antibody (BiAb) with a single specificity for the SAR receptor (EGFRvIII) and two specificities against the tumor antigen (MSLN) was generated by collaborators at Roche Glycart (Schlieren, Switzerland) (Figure 1A). Previous studies (in the murine system) could demonstrate that BiAbs that are bivalent for the SAR receptor resulted in unwanted crosslinking of the receptor upon binding. This receptor crosslinking was shown to be abolished when a trivalent format monovalent for the fusion protein on the T cell was used.

Before BiAb characterization, its binding curve and kinetics were assessed. To establish a binding curve, SAR T cells were coincubated with ascending concentrations of the E3-MSLN BiAb, and

binding activity was shown to begin at a concentration of 0.01 μ g/ml, before SAR T cell saturation was reached at 10 μ g/ml (Figure 2A). The binding kinetics of the CrossMab to both its targets (MSLN and EGFRvIII) were assessed by recording binding over time using flow cytometry. Using a saturating BiAb concentration (15 μ g/ml) we could show that the binding kinetics were comparable for both targets, with E3 T cells used as the EGFRvIII target and Suit-MSLN tumor cells used as the MSLN target (Figure 2B).

We initially assessed whether the trivalent BiAb format (monovalent for the fusion receptor) could specifically and conditionally activate the receptor in the human system. Binding assays were setup, where SAR T cells were cultured with coated BiAb (immobilized) or soluble BiAb (free), with the anti-EGFR monoclonal antibody (mAb) cetuximab used as a positive control, and the anti-CD20 mAb rituximab used as a negative control. Results demonstrated that only the immobilized BiAb was able to induce T cell stimulation in E3 T cells, while E3^{del} and UT T cells were not. As expected, cetuximab mediated SAR T cell stimulation while rituximab did not. This SAR T cell activation was also shown to occur in a dose dependent manner (Figure 2C and D).



Figure 2: BiAb binding kinetics and its capacity to mediate SAR T cell activation. (A) E3-MSLN BiAb binding curve. 10^7 T cells were co-incubated for 1 hour with ascending concentrations of E3-MSLN BiAb – (0.005 µg/ml to 15.0 µg/ml). (B) 2 + 1 BiAb (EGFRv3 x hMSLN) was pre-labeled with R-Phycoerythrin (PE). A mixture of human E3 SAR T cells (Left) and MSTO-MSLN tumor cells (Right) were acquired at the flow cytometer for approximately 30 sec. The respective 2 + 1 BiAb was added within 5 sec and BiAb binding was recorded for an additional 200-300 sec. BiAb binding was immediate and equal for both target and effector cells. (C) In a 96 well plate, BiAb (5 µg/ml) was either coated overnight (bound) or added in soluble form (unbound) with E3, E3^{del} or UT T cells. Soluble and bound monoclonal antibodies (rituximab – anti-CD20; cetuximab – anti-EGFR) were added as negative and positive controls, respectively. (D) In a 96 well plate, BiAb (0.001 µg/ml to 5.0 µg/ml) was coated overnight (bound) before E3, E3^{del} and UT T cells were added. (C and D) Readouts were carried out at 48 h. For each readout, supernatants were collected

and a hIFN- γ ELISA readout subsequently carried out. For statistical analysis the unpaired two-tailed student's t test was used. Cytokine release experiments show mean values ± SEM and are representative of three independent experiments.

3.2 A closer look at SAR activation requirements

To further analyze the requirements for T cell activation upon SAR T cell engagement, we used natural ligands of EGFR. We found that soluble EGFR ligands did not trigger E3 T cell activation when used under physiological conditions (Figure 3A and B). Furthermore, following the inhibition of EGFR ligand shedding from the tumor cell surface (using the A375 cell line) via the addition of the matrix metalloprotease inhibitor batimastat, SAR T cells were not activated by the upregulated membrane bound ligands compared to the positive control, though basal activation – lower by more than a 100-fold – was observed (Figure 3C). In contrast, Fc-tagged EGF immobilized to the well induced similar activation to EGFR-binding antibodies immobilized in the same way. This indicates that T cell activation is mediated by crosslinking of the SAR.



Figure 3: The impact of natural and soluble EGFR ligands on SAR T cell activation. (A) Quantification of T cell stimulation as measured by IFN- γ (A) and IL-2 (B), following coculture of E3 T cells with known EGFR ligands in their soluble as well as Fc-bound forms. Plate-bound cetuximab (5 µg/ml) was used as a positive control. (C) Quantification of T cell stimulation following coculture of E3 T cells with A375 tumor cells (E:T 10:1). The metalloprotease inhibitor Batimastat was added (10 uM) to prevent EGFR ligand shedding. Readouts were carried out at 48 h. For statistical analysis the unpaired two-tailed student's t test was used. Experiments show mean values \pm SEM and are representative of two independent experiments.

3.3 BiAb-mediated effects on SAR T cell activation in presence of target cells

Having shown that BiAb-mediated T cell activation is strictly dependent on the crosslink to the target cells, we further assessed this conditional T cell activation. We incubated healthy donor SAR-transduced T cells with the 2+1 CrossMab in the absence or presence of MSLN-expressing pancreatic and mesothelioma cancer cell-lines MiaPaca-MSLN, Suit-MSLN, and MSTO-MSLN, with untransduced and E3^{del}-transduced T cells serving as controls. Importantly, only E3 T cells in the presence of the BiAb as well as the target antigen were shown to produce IFN- γ in a dose-dependent manner, whereas UT and E3^{del}-transduced T cells were not stimulated even in the presence of both BiAb and target molecules (Figure 4A, B and C).



Figure 4: Human SAR T cells are specifically stimulated by anti-human mesothelin x anti-EGFRv3 2 + 1 BiAb in presence of mesothelin+ target cells *in vitro*. (A and B) Quantification of E3, E3^{del} or UT T cell activation when co-cultured with Suit-2-MSLN (A) or HEK-MSLN (B) cells and 2 + 1 BiAb (5 µg/ml, E:T - 10:1). (C) Quantification of E3, E3^{del} or UT T cell activation when co-cultured with MiaPaca-MSLN tumor cell and increasing concentrations of 2 + 1 BiAb (0.001, 0.005, 0.01, 0.05, 1 or 5 µg/ml, E:T 10:1). For statistical analysis the unpaired two-tailed Student's t test was used. Experiments show mean values ± SEM and are representative of three independent experiments.

3.4 SAR-transduced T cells form functional immunological synapses, to mediate efficient tumor-cell lysis

MSLN-expressing tumor cells (Suit-02-MSLN and MiaPaca-MSLN) were effectively targeted and lysed by E3 T cells together with E3-MSLN BiAb, but not by E3^{del} and UT T cells. By assessing killing data in real-time, and by employing various effector to target ratios (10:1, 5:1, 1:1), we were able to observe that (Figure 5A and B).



Figure 5: Human SAR T cells mediate specific and conditional tumor cell lysis of mesothelin⁺ target cells. (A and B) Real-time quantification of MiaPaca-MSLN (A) or Suit-MSLN (B) tumor cell lysis by E3 or E3^{del} T cells and 2 + 1 BiAb at either 10:1, 5:1 or 1:1 effector to target ratios. Experiments shown are representative of 3 independent experiments. Impedance-based cytotoxicity assays were performed in duplicates for technical reasons. For statistical analysis, the total curve over time was compared.

To further control for the specificity of T cell activation and killing, we coincubated E3 SAR T cells with two cell lines, one expressing EGFRvIII (U251) and the other expressing MSLN (MiaPaca-MSLN). We could show that the EGFRvIII expressing cell line could not induce E3 T cell activation, in contrast to the MSLN-expressing one (Figure 6A). This was further supported by comparing the two in a real-time killing assay, where we saw no killing of the EGFRvIII-expressing cell-line compared to the MSLN expressing one (Figure 6B and C).



Figure 6: E3-MSLN BiAb activates and redirects SAR T cells in presence of cells expressing mesothelin but not EGFRvIII. (A) Quantification of T cell stimulation as measured by IFN- γ (left) and IL-2 (right), following coculture of E3 or UT (WT) T cells with MSLN-expressing MiaPaca-MSLN or EGFRvIII-expressing U251-EGFRvIII and 2 + 1 BiAb (5 µg/ml). (B) Real-time quantification of MiaPaca-MSLN (B) or U251-EGFRvIII (C) tumor cell lysis by E3 or UT (WT) T cells and 2 + 1 BiAb. Experiments show mean values ± SEM and are representative of 3 independent experiments. Impedance-based cytotoxicity assays were performed in duplicates for technical reasons. For statistical analysis, an unpaired student t test was used (A and B). For impedance-based readouts (C and D), the total curve over time was compared.

To further dissect the mode of action of SAR T cells in these settings, we next thought to analyze the interface between both cell types. Cell conjugates and synapses formed between the T cells and tumor cells were subjected to double color immunofluorescence labeling. The number of T cell-target cell conjugates were quantified. To probe the nature of the immunological synapse, we assessed F-actin and CD11a-LFA-1 accumulation. IS functionality was judged by the polarization of the microtubule organizing center (MTOC).

E3 SAR T cell-target cell conjugates occurred much more frequently than UT T cell-target cell conjugates, while E3^{del} T cells interestingly formed a comparable number of synapses (Figure 7A). Indicative of a functional immune synapse is the strong accumulation of F-actin, which was observed to span the entire area of the synapse. MTOC polarization was significantly higher in SAR-target cell conjugates compared to UT and E3^{del} controls (Figures 7B). A moderate accumulation of LFA-1 signal was seen at the immune synapse, although the LFA-1 signal was also observed across the T cell surface (Figure 7C). Human SAR T cells appeared to utilize the granzyme-perforin axis for target cell lysis under these settings, as granzyme B accumulation and degranulation at the immunological synapse was also observed (Figure 7C).



Figure 7: E3 SAR T cells form functional immune synapses. (A and B) E3, E3^{del} and UT T cells were cocultured with Suit-MSLN tumor cells in a V-well plate following the described conjugation assay method. The percentage of T cells in conjugate with tumor cells was quantified (A), as well as the percentage of those conjugates which has a polarized MTOC (E3 formed significantly more conjugates than E3^{del} (p = 0.04)) (B). (C) Double Immunofluorescence labelling was carried out to look at the polarization of the MTOC, Granzyme B, LFA-1 and F-actin at the IS. For statistical analysis the unpaired two-tailed student's t test was used. Experiments in subfigures (A and B) show mean values \pm SEM and are representative of two independent experiments. Subfigure D is representative of two independent experiments. Leica TCS SP5 confocal system with a HCX PL APO CS 63x/1.4 oil objective was used for image acquisition on Leica application suite v2.7.3.9723. Tumor cells were GFP positive. Fluorochromes used: MTOC (AF594) Granzyme B (AF647); F-actin (AF647); LFA-1 (AF647); Lck (AF647).

3.5 Recombinant protein inhibition of SAR-BiAb activity

We wanted to assess the potential impact of non-tumor or T cell-derived MSLN and EGFRvIII proteins on platform functionality. To achieve this, we used recombinant MSLN and EGFRvIII proteins. Proteins were added in ascending concentrations to a T cell-tumor cell coculture to look at T cell killing efficiency and kinetics.

Saturating concentration of EGFRvIII did not appear to have an impact on killing efficiency nor killing kinetics. However, ascending concentrations of recombinant MSLN appeared to have an inhibitory effect on T cell killing (B). Nevertheless, the concentrations where this effect was

observed were supra-physiological. Thus, it appears that the SAR T cell- BiAb platform is not easily impacted by alternative sources of targeted proteins.



Figure 8: Recombinant protein inhibition of SAR-BiAb axis. (A) Real-time quantification of the impact of recombinant EGFR (15 μ g/ml) (A) and MSLN (0.5, 10 and 30 μ g/ml) (B) on Suit-MSLN-mediated killing by E3 SAR T cells and BiAb combination. (A and B) 2 x 10⁵ T cells were cocultured with 2 x 10⁴ Suit-MSLN tumor cells. A 5 μ g/ml concentration of BiAb was used. Experiments shown are representative of 2 independent experiments. These impedance-based cytotoxicity assays were performed in duplicates for technical reasons. For statistical analysis, the total curve over time was compared.

3.6 Selective and reversible activation of SAR T cells and their applied safety-switches

To demonstrate the selective advantages of the SAR x BiAb platform over BiTE, E3 SAR T cells were serially titrated in a PBMC mix, then cocultured with target cells and either a pan T cell-targeting T cell bispecific antibody (TCB) (anti-CD3 x anti-MSLN) or a SAR-specific BiAb (anti-E3 x anti-MSLN). The selective activation of SAR T cells was evident when the SAR x PBMC mix was coincubated with an anti-EGFRvIII x anti-MSLN BiAb, as IFN-γ levels decreased with lower concentrations of SAR T cells in the mix.

This titrated T cell activation effect was lost when the anti-CD3 x anti-MSLN BiAb was employed at equivalent total cell numbers. Further, the anti-EGFR x anti-MSLN BiAb did not mediate any T cell activation when incubated with a pure PBMC mix devoid of SAR T cells, whereas the antiCD3 x anti-MSLN BiAb was non-selective in activating CD3⁺ T cells in the PBMC mix, as expected (Figure 9A).

An intrinsic safety switch of the SAR x BiAb platform is that the activity of SAR T cells is strictly dependent on the presence of the BiAb. Unlike CAR T cells, the activity of which is irreversible in the presence of the target antigen, SAR T cell activity should quickly dissipate with clearance of the BiAb. This could be demonstrated following coculture with Suit-MSLN tumor cells, as SAR T cell activity was reversible over time in the absence of BiAb redosing, unlike human anti-MSLN CAR T cells. Importantly, repeated dosing of the BiAb molecule could maintain SAR activity at comparable levels to that of the CAR (Figure 9B). This data indicates that the short half-life of the BiAb molecule enables control over SAR activity through half-life engineering of the targeting molecule.



Figure 9: Modular, selective and reversible activation of SAR T cells and their applied safety switches. (A) SAR T cells were serially titrated (1:10, 1:20, 1:40, 1:60, 1:80, 0:100) in a PBMC mix. Cells were then cocultured with Suit-2-MSLN tumor cells (E:T - 10:1), with either a pan-T cell-BiAB (anti-CD3–anti-MSLN, 5 μ g/ml) or a SAR-specific BiAb of the same format (anti-E3–anti-MSLN, 5 μ g/ml). (B) E3-MSLN BiAb selectively activates E3 T cells while its depletion results in rapid and complete reversibility of SAR T cell stimulation. For BiAb depletion, Suit-2-MSLN tumor cells were repeatedly cocultured with E3 T cells with or without readjustment of the BiAb concentration (5 μ g/mL). Control condition utilized anti-MSLN-CAR T cells (E:T 10:1). For statistical analysis the unpaired two-tailed student's t test was used. Experiments show mean values ± SEM and are representative of at least two independent experiments.

3.7 Impact and functionality of SAR-BiAb combination in pancreatic cancer xenograft models

To assess the functionality of the SAR T cells and BiAb combination *in vivo*, pancreatic cancer and mesothelioma xenograft models were developed. The three models developed for testing were MiaPaca-MSLN, Suit-MSLN and MSTO-MSLN. E3 T cells plus BiAb mediated anti-tumor responses in all three tumor models (Figure 10 A-D). In addition, mice where challenged at two tumor sizes (<10 mm² and <25 mm²), with a therapeutic benefit still being observed when larger tumors were treated (Figure 10C and 10D).





31

Figure 10. Anti-human mesothelin anti-EGFRvIII 2 + 1 BiAb specifically stimulates SAR T cells and mediates tumor killing in pancreatic cancer xenograft models. (A) NSG mice inoculated s.c. with MIA PaCa-MSLN were treated with a single i.v. injection of E3 T cells only (n = 6), E3 T cells + 10 μ g BiAb (n = 10), E3del T cells + 10 μ g BiAb (n = 6), C3 T cells + 10 μ g BiAb (n = 6), 10 μ g BiAb only (n = 6), and PBS (n = 6), followed by a total of 10 BiAb injections as indicated. (B) NSG mice inoculated s.c. with Suit-2-MSLN were treated with a single i.v. injection of E3 T cells only (n = 5), E3 T cells + 20 μ g BiAb (n = 10), E3 T cells + 5 g BiAb (n = 5), E3del T cells + 20 μ g BiAb (n = 5), C3 T cells + 20 μ g BiAb (n = 5), 20 μ g BiAb only (n = 5), and PBS (n = 5), followed by a total of four BiAb injections as indicated. NSG mice inoculated s.c. with MSTO-MSLN-LUC were treated with a single i.v. injection of E3 T cells only (n = 5), E3 T cells + 10 μ g BiAb (n = 5), 10 μ g BiAb only (n = 5), and PBS (n = 5), followed by a total of four BiAb injections as indicated. NSG mice inoculated s.c. with MSTO-MSLN-LUC were treated with a single i.v. injection of E3 T cells only (n = 5), E3 T cells + 10 μ g BiAb (n = 5), 10 μ g BiAb only (n = 5), and PBS (n = 5), followed by a total of four BiAb injections as indicated. NSG mice inoculated s.c. with 1 x 10⁶ MiaPaca MSLN (A), MSTO-MSLN-LUC cells. When tumors reached the size of < 25 mm², mice were treated with a single i.v. injection of E3 T cells. When tumors reached the size of < 25 mm², and PBS (n=5), followed by a total of four BiAb injections, as indicated. Analysis of differences between groups for the tumor growth curves was performed using two-way ANOVA with correction for multiple testing by the Bonferroni method.

In the MSTO-MSLN-LUC xenograft model, we could observe significant infiltration and persistence of E3 T cells in the treated mice 23 days following adoptive transfer, which was not seen in control groups (Figure 11A, C and D). This tumor T cell infiltrate consisted predominantly of CD4⁺ SAR T cells, though CD8⁺ SAR T cells were also present (Figure 11A) - In the MSTO-MSLN-LUC cell-line, a luciferase signal could be used to quantify and show tumor cell persistence at experimental end-point (Figure 11 B).



Figure 11. SAR T cell phenotype, infiltration as well as luciferase-based readout from MSTO-MSLN-LUC xenograft experiment. (A) FACS-based quantification of E3 T cell compartments before therapy administration, and the intra-tumoral infiltrate following tumor harvest at day 25 of MSTO-MSLN-LUC xenograft treatment experiment. Inner circle, CD4 and CD8 ratios. Outer circle, ratio of transduced and un-transduced T cells within each compartment. (B) Representative NSG mice from MSTO-MSLN-LUC xenograft treatment experiment are depicted. Tumor persistence in both treated mouse (right hand side) and control treated mouse (left hand side). Differences in luminescence shown in

radiance scales underneath. (C and D) Tumors from the mice in MSTO-MSLN-LUC xenograft experiment (Figure 10 D) were FACS analyzed for T cell infiltration. Following a drill down through the CD45 and CD3 gates, the EGFR⁺ CD4 (C) and CD8 (D) T cell populations were quantified and are depicted as a ratio of cells per bead. In vitro experiments show mean values ± SEM of at least triplicates and are representative of at least three independent experiments. P values are based on two-sided unpaired t test.

LDH, urea, AST and ALT serum levels remained within the normal range for both E3 T cell plus BiAb- and E3^{del} T cell plus BiAb-treated mice, showing no systemic parameters of kidney or liver damage in the treated models (Figure 12 A-D).



Figure 12: Serum readout of several toxicity markers following SAR-BiAb treatment combination. (A, B, C, D) LDH (A), urea (B), AST (C) and ALT (D) serum levels comparing E3 + 2+1 BiAb treated mice with the control mice receiving $E3^{del} + 2+1$ BiAb. Serum was collected at indicated experimental endpoint of MSTO-MSLN-LUC xenograft treatment experiment (see Figure 10). Data collected from 5 mice per group. Experiment shows mean values ± SEM. P values are based on two-sided unpaired t test.

To investigate whether the observed *in vitro* reversibility of SAR T cell activity could also be observed *in vivo*, we used the Suit-02-MSLN xenograft model to compare tumor growth in mice that were redosed with BiAb with mice that received a single dose. Despite transient tumor control (P = 0.026 on day 12), non-redosed mice lost tumor control compared with redosed mice (Figure 13A). To link these findings to limited T cell activation, mice were bled repeatedly, and serum IFN- γ concentration levels were quantified. We found T cell stimulation was reversible in non-redosed versus redosed mice as a function of time (Figure 14 B). In summary, we could show

that SAR T cell activity is limited to the continued presence of the BiAb, which unlike for CAR T cells could prevent unwanted prolonged T cell activation.



Figure 13: Reversibility of SAR T cell activation upon BiAb depletion, *in vivo*. (A and B) NSG mice inoculated s.c. with Suit-2-MSLN (n = 5 / group) were treated with a single i.v. injection of E3 T cells only, E3 T cells + 10 μ g BiAb—redosed, E3 T cells + 10 μ g BiAb—single dose and PBS followed by a total of six BiAb injections as indicated. Significance of non-redosed group versus E3 only at day 12 (P = 0.026; E). Mice were bled 3, 6, 10, and 16 days after T cell transfer to quantify T cell activation by IFN- γ serum levels (F). Data are reported normalized to the values obtained from the single-dose group. Experiments show mean values +/- SEM and are representative of one independent experiment. Analysis of differences between groups for the tumor growth curves was performed using two-way ANOVA with correction for multiple testing by the Bonferroni method (A). P value based on two-sided unpaired t test (B). P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

4 Discussion

The experiments presented in this thesis set out to characterize and demonstrate the efficacy of the SAR-BiAb platform in the human system. Through this work, we could show that BiAbs can mediate specific and conditional activation of human T cells transduced with the E3 SAR construct. We could further show that SAR T cells are able to form a distinct and functional IS with their target cells to mediate MHC-independent tumor cell lysis. *In vivo*, substantial antitumoral effects could also be shown in two pancreatic cancer and one mesothelioma xenograft model. In the solid tumor models, SAR T cell *in vivo* persistence and tumor infiltration could also be observed. SAR T cell activation was shown to be controllable and reversible with BiAb dosage and depletion, *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Unlike murine SAR T cells, the mechanism of killing employed by human SAR T cells was shown not to be reliant on the Fas-FasL axis, although the exact mechanism is yet to be shown.

4.1 SAR and BiAb design for controlled T cell activation and tumor cell lysis The rationale upon which the platform was built required the careful design of two entities, the SAR and the BiAb.

4.1.1 SAR Design

A crucial aspect of SAR design was the identification of a rare and inert extracellular receptor domain that could be selectively triggered to crosslink, ultimately propagating an activation signal intracellularly. It was important to the clinical translation of this therapeutic platform that the antigen was restricted to the transduced T cells to avoid unwanted binding of the BiAb to non-tumor tissues. One such receptor is the epidermal growth factor receptor variant III (EGFRvIII). Its reported expression in the human system is restricted to certain tumor entities, notably associated with increased proliferation of glioma cells (Montano *et al.* 2011)). A splice variant of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), it is an in-frame deletion of exons 2 and 7, followed by the introduction of a glycine residue where exons 1 and 8 meet, that results in its altered transcription. Several reports have cited its inability to bind the natural EGFR ligand EGF, despite its binding site (in the L2 region of domain 3) being conserved in the splice variant (Woltjer *et al.* 1992) . It has been postulated that the altered architecture of EGFRvIII is the cause of this (Gong

et al. 2014, Huang *et al.* 1997) . EGFRvIII is known to mediate a constitutive, ligand-independent signaling due to the formation of transient homodimers which are stabilized by disulfide bonds of free amino-terminal cysteines C16. Although we have not observed ligand-independent signaling in our studies, the dimerization can be abolished by mutating the respective cysteine residue (Ymer *et al.* 2011) . C16 is not involved in BiAb engagement and thus could be mutated if any spontaneous dimerization of the SAR occurs. It is of relevance that the EGFR-specific monoclonal antibodies cetuximab and panitumumab have been shown to possess comparable affinities for EGFRvIII (Gong *et al.* 2014, Patel *et al.* 2007)). The utility of this finding lies in the ability to target genetically engineered SAR T cells, which could be crucial as a safety switch, through which engineered cells expressing the receptor could be depleted (Paszkiewicz *et al.* 2016) .

Although a rare occurrence, the reported expression of EGFRvIII in the human system means the situation where EGFRvIII is no longer an ideal receptor could arise (Montano *et al.* 2011). In such a case, alternative receptor domains would be required. One such domain is the embryonic gene Cripto-1. It is a member of the EGF-Cripto-1/FRL1/Cryptic family and has been implicated in embryogenesis as well as carcinogenesis. Importantly, its expression is very low in adult tissues and not present on T cells (De Luca *et al.* 2011). When membrane-bound, it can potentiate ligand-dependent signaling, Although binding to its ligand Activin B has been reported, it has been shown to have no appreciable binding to TGF-B family ligands (Aykul *et al.* 2017).

Designing the intracellular signaling compartment of the SAR, which is made up of the CD3ζ stimulatory and CD28 costimulatory domains, was informed by the extensive work carried out towards the development of the CAR. Distal to the membrane, the CD3ζ chain was incorporated for its role in initializing T cell activation (signal 1). Its use in CAR T cells was first outlined by Eshhar and colleagues (Eshhar *et al.* 1993) and it remains an integral part of CAR design today. Proximal to the membrane, and linked to its own transmembrane domain, the intracellular domain of the CD28 receptor was added. The signaling domain of the CD28 receptor is important for a full physiological T cell activation to be achieved, as it propagates a necessary costimulatory signal via PI3K (Krogsgaard *et al.* 2005,Zhang *et al.* 2017,Love *et al.* 2010). Its combination with the CD3ζ domain to form a single chimeric receptor was shown by Maher and colleagues to ameliorate T cell cytotoxicity and proliferation (Maher *et al.* 2002). The exchange or addition of other signaling endodomains, such as 41BB and ICOS, have been shown to have a marked

impact on T cell activity, metabolic programing and *in vivo* persistence (Guedan *et al.* 2014,Zhong *et al.* 2010).

A SAR containing 41BB as the costimulatory endodomain is an alternative design that warrants testing and characterization. Extensive research has been carried out comparing clinically tested CAR T cells containing a 41BB costimulatory domain with those containing CD28 (Kawalekar et al. 2016). CD4+ and CD8+ CAR T cells with a 41BB domain were shown to have a prolonged proliferation phase and better persistence (through non canonical NF-kB signaling) over those containing CD28 (Philipson et al. 2020). A differentiation status more skewed towards a central memory phenotype was observed with 41BB CAR T cells in comparison to CD28 CAR T cells (Ying et al. 2019). T cell activation is linked to a bioenergetics and biosynthetic flux that is needed to aid T cell function and persistence (Pearce et al. 2013, Wang et al. 2012) . Naïve and memory T cells primarily depend on mitochondrial oxidation, while effector T cells have been shown to switch to glycolysis or augmented oxidative phosphorylation and aerobic glycolysis (Pearce et al. 2009, van der Windt et al. 2013). Consistent with this and the differentiation status observed when comparing 41BB and CD28 CAR T cells, are studies highlighting the metabolic differences between 41BB and CD28 CAR T cells (Kawalekar et al. 2016, Menk et al. 2018). They showed that 41BB leads to increased mitochondrial biogenesis and oxidative metabolism, while CD28 results in decreased mitochondrial biogenesis and increased glycolytic metabolism. Whether these findings in CAR T cells could be translated to the SAR-BiAb setting is yet to be shown, although evidence suggests it could improve *in vivo* T cell persistence and antitumoral functions.

Nevertheless, optimal CAR and SAR designs will inevitably depend on the stimulatory or phenotypic advantage that is deemed most necessary to equip the T cell with, depending on the case and setting. Thus, the extensive testing of different costimulatory domains in various settings would still be required, as demonstrated by several preclinical studies in the CAR setting (Guedan *et al.* 2014, Hu *et al.* 2019, Guedan *et al.* 2018).

4.1.2 BiAb design

When designing a BiAb for SAR activation, certain prerequisites must be considered. The binding affinity of the tumor-targeting Fab must be designed with consideration for the relative expression of its target. A balance that would maximize tumor cell binding while minimizing, if not abolishing,

on-target off-tumor binding would be desired. Too low an affinity would compromise tumor targeting, while an affinity that is too high would result in off-tumor toxicity (Liu *et al.* 2015). If safety considerations allow and depending on the tumor entity that is targeted, future BiAb designs could have a higher affinity for the tumor antigen (Yuraszeck *et al.* 2017). A higher affinity would allow a BiAb matrix to be formed on the surface of the tumor cells, upon which SAR T cells, with their lower affinity binding to the BiAb, can mediate serial tumor cell killing more efficiently (Hoffmann *et al.* 2005,Herrmann *et al.* 2018). This design would also minimize antibody trapping in T cell-rich tissues, such as the spleen or lymph nodes, reducing the potential for off-target toxicity (Leong *et al.* 2017,Bortoletto *et al.* 2002).

The number of valencies directed towards the SAR are critical for the facet of targeted specificity. It is imperative that a BiAb must not trigger T cell activation in the absence of the tumor cell. In the presence of the tumor cell, the BiAb can aggregate, thereby enabling the SAR receptor to crosslink and mediate T cell activation. Early studies using CD3-targeting BiTEs showed that it was not possible for the BiTEs to stimulate the T cell lytic capacity simply through binding with their anti-CD3 binder to the receptor complex even when tested at concentrations far exceeding the EC50 values for redirected lysis (Kufer *et al.* 1997). This distinct feature was attributed to the monomeric nature of BiTEs, because binding of a BiTE with a single monovalent specificity to the CD3 complex was insufficient in mediating a complete T-cell activation. On the other hand, when BiTEs were organized on the target cell surface, thus accessible to the T cells in a polyvalent form, they resulted in strong T-cell signaling and redirected killing, and a cascade of consequent events (Perez *et al.* 1985,Wolf *et al.* 2005). Although the targeted receptor is not the same in the case of the SAR (EGFRvIII), the same concept applies. As a result, the cross-linking ability of the 2 + 1 BiAb is restored in the presence of an immobilizing tumor- associated binding moiety for the other arm of the BiAb.

Depending on the disease entity and the level of controllability that is required, BiAb design can have a significant impact on both function and half-life. Through binding the $Fc\gamma R$, a functional Fc region can mediate antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (Petricevic *et al.* 2013) . Introduction of the P329G LALA mutation in IgG1 antibodies was previously shown to abolish binding to the Fc γR receptor, rendering the Fc region non-functional (Schlothauer *et al.* 2016,Klein *et al.* 2019) . In the context of the SAR-BiAb platform, this Fc function is redundant and therefore the BiAb was designed to include this mutation in the Fc region.

38

Despite its lack of function, the Fc region of the CrossMab still has an impact on the half-life of the molecule. Fc-deficient formats have been shown to have a relatively short plasma half-life as they are not protected from catabolism by the neonatal Fc-receptor (FcRn). Should it become necessary to modulate this in the future, FcRn binding and recycling can be abolished via the introduction of Triple A (I253A, H310A, H435A) mutations into the Fc region, as previously described (Regula *et al.* 2016).

4.2 The importance of the immunological synapse to SAR functionality

In response to cell-surface stimulation, lymphocytes have the capacity to totally change their cellular architecture. It is a structural plasticity that helps to promote and specify interactions between T cells and tumor cells. The immunological synapse (IS) is a well-defined cell-cell contact formed after the association of adhesion and signaling proteins, as well as cell surface receptors into concentric rings (Dustin et al. 2010). Cytotoxic T cells rapidly and specifically lyse their target cell, following the formation of an IS once the TCR has been engaged (Monks et al. 1998). Upon engagement of the (TCR), several concentric rings, known as the supramolecular activating clusters (SMAC) make up the IS. Clustered molecules conferring specific functions make up each cluster. The central SMAC (cSMAC) is made up of clusters of Lck and TCR, that strengthen the cytotoxic response via the buildup of activation signals and the transfer of cytotoxic particles. Surrounding the cSMAC is the peripheral SMAC (pSMAC), an accumulation of adhesion molecules (made up of LFA-1)) stabilizes the synapse itself as well as target cell binding. An aggregation of actin known as the distal SMAC (dSMAC) (Dustin et al. 2014) The microtubule organizing center (MTOC), otherwise known as the centrosome, is an important structure that is rapidly reorganized (within 5 minutes of T cell stimulation) to carry with it key vascular components such as the golgi apparatus. The reorientation of the MTOC to a point below the cell-cell boundary is indicative of functional IS formation. This remodeling of the cytoskeleton in an event which aligns secretory organelles within the T cell with the IS (Martín-Cófreces et al. 2008).

It is known that the signaling machinery of CARs shares many aspects with that of the conventional TCR (Maher *et al.* 2002). It was thus surprising when a study demonstrated considerable differences between the IS structure formed by a CAR to that formed by a TCR. They could show that LFA-1 is expendable for the IS formation at CAR as well as TCR interfaces.

Further, Lck did not cluster within the cSMAC of the CAR IS, with its micropatches forming a more disordered pattern. As a result, the inner diameter of the CAR synapse was a lot smaller by comparison and is congruent with the earlier CAR T cell detachment that was observed. CAR T cells were also shown to deliver lytic granules more rapidly to the synapse, resulting in speedier target cell lysis (Davenport *et al.* 2018) . On the other hand, CD3-targeting BiAbs were shown to form functional immune synapses that were comparable to those formed following a classical TCR-target cell interaction (Offner *et al.* 2006).

Given the differences observed at the T cell-tumor cell interface of several ACT approaches, it was important to establish both the nature and functionality of the IS formed at the interface between SAR T cells and their target cells, and how it compares to the CAR and TCR approaches described above. A polarized MTOC and a large F-actin area demonstrated that the SAR-BiAb combination could induce the formation of a functional synapse. MTOC translocation towards the nascent IS has previously been shown to be an important early step in lymphocyte activation initiated by the TCR (Martín-Cófreces et al. 2008), as well as the CAR (Davenport et al. 2018). Interestingly, MTOC polarization in the CAR T cell IS was more distal from the membrane when compared to TCR T cells, the localization in which was more proximal to the membrane, and close to Lck. In this regard, the MTOC polarization observed in SAR T cells was more comparable to that observed in TCR T cells, given its close proximity to the membrane. It remains to be shown whether MTOC polarization in SAR T cells also localizes in proximity to Lck. Granzyme B (GZMB) granules were seen to be polarized at the SAR IS in comparable fashion to both TCR and CAR T cells (Xiong et al. 2018, Jenkins et al. 2010) . The LFA-1 organization pattern at the SAR T cell IS was disorganized and comparable to that observed at the IS formed by CARs (Davenport et al. 2018). This is contrary to the LFA-1 organization pattern at the IS of TCR T cells, which is comprised of an organized bull's eye structure (Davenport et al. 2018). A more comprehensive side-by-side comparison of the IS formed by SAR, CAR and TCR T cells will need to be carried out to further validate and better understand the differences observed.

4.3 Target antigen specificity and the conditional activation of human SAR T cells for tumor cell lysis

Specific and conditional SAR stimulation and targeted tumor cell lysis was observed when the SAR, BiAb and targeted antigen were present. Furthermore, the targeted specificity of the

platform was tested to investigate whether the expression of EGFRvIII could stimulate our T cells, and whether SAR T cells would subsequently mediate cytotoxicity of EGFRvIII-positive cells. Cytotoxicity assays as well as IFNγ and IL-2 cytokine release assays revealed that E3 SAR T cells were not able to lyse EGFRvIII-positive tumor cells when compared to MSLN-positive ones, which were effectively lysed. We also questioned whether free MSLN or EGFRvIII proteins could inhibit or interfere with SAR-BiAb activity and found that ascending concentrations of recombinant MSLN could inhibit tumor cell killing. Free targeted protein in the TME must be considered as a potential hindrance to the efficacy of the SAR-BiAb combination. This could become especially problematic in targeting cleavable proteins, such as MSLN, and the targeting of membrane-associated forms of proteins could maximize efficiency in this regard (Asgarov *et al.* 2017) . In any case, testing under physiological conditions must be carried out to further validate this finding.

4.4 The selective and modular nature of the SAR-BiAb platform in cancer therapy

While insufficient tumor infiltration and a dense immunosuppressive microenvironment are notable hindrances to the success of T cell therapies in solid tumor settings, antigen heterogeneity and on-target off-tumor toxicity remain problematic in this regard (Runa *et al.* 2017).

To overcome these challenges, highly modular and controllable approaches are needed to offer flexibility when targeting a diverse set of tumor-associated antigens, and control over the risk of toxicities due to attraction to healthy tissue that expresses the antigen (Lesch *et al.* 2019). These risks cannot be adequately predicted from preclinical data (Fitzgerald *et al.* 2017, Watanabe *et al.* 2018). The 'safety switches' that have been incorporated into the SAR-BiAb platform have been shown to have the potential to limit possibly lethal side effects.

A major advantage of the platform we describe is its reversibility with the elimination of the BiAb. Elimination of the BiAb, in the event of toxicity or on-target-off-tumor activity, would reverse SAR T cell activity. Moreover, the BiAb concentration could then be adjusted accordingly, to maintain T cell efficacy and manage possible toxicity. Furthermore, as previously mentioned, SAR T cell depletion with anti-EGFR antibodies can act as an additional safety switch.

41

Inter-patient heterogeneity and the diverse antigen profile of many cancer types highlights the importance of a modular platform with the potential for redirection towards different targets. In terms of modularity, once the T cell arm of the therapy is adoptively transferred, the redirection and subsequent activation of SAR T cells is completely dependent on the BiAb. Further or sequential targeting of the tumor through the redirection of pre-existing SAR T cells could then be achieved through the introduction of a new BiAb with a different antigen specificity.

In the event of target downregulation as an escape mechanism following treatment (most prevalent resistance mechanism observed following CD19 targeted treatment in ALL patients) (Ruella *et al.* 2016, Majzner *et al.* 2018), platform modularity would again be advantageous. In a clinical setting, this treatment approach would allow for the careful monitoring of patients for the potential emergence of side effects.

4.5 Approaches to improve SAR T cell functionality

The SAR-BiAb platform distinguishes between two T cell populations in the patient (engineered and non-engineered). This was shown when directly comparing a pan-T cell targeting molecule with a SAR-specific one, substantiating the claim that non-engineered T cells are not affected by the platform, and differentiating the approach from those using pan-T cell–activating BiAbs. SAR T cells can therefore be carefully selected and tailored. In this line, identifying the optimal T cell differentiation state that would result in maximal efficacy is an important axis through which the SAR-BiAb can be improved.

The impact of defined CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell subsets is one important consideration. Several reports have shown that defined compositions can have a significant impact on anti-tumoral efficacy. One such study in the glioblastoma disease setting showed that CD4⁺ CAR T cells (anti-IL13Ra2) mediated superior tumor control *in vivo* when compared to a mix of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ CAR T cells (Wang *et al.* 2018) A clinical study by Turtle and colleagues in the B cell ALL setting employed CD19 CAR T cells of a defined CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ composition, with 93 % of patients achieving remission (Turtle *et al.* 2016). Discerning if various differing CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ ratios can have an impact on SAR T cell functionality would be an important finding in this regard.

In addition to the introduction of the synthetic construct, additional genetic modifications, including targeted transgene integration is another potential approach to improve SAR T cell function, and has already been shown to improve anti-tumoral efficacy in CAR T cells. Directing transgenes towards specific genomic locations has the potential advantages of optimizing transgene function while mitigating unforeseen genotoxicity. One study could reduce tonic signaling (resulting in more optimal CAR surface expression levels) in CAR T cells by directing the CAR to the T cell receptor alpha constant (TRAC) locus (Eyquem *et al.* 2017) . In a case study, random lentiviral vector integration had serendipitously disrupted the methylcytosin dioxygenase TET2 gene on one allele. As the patient harbored a hypomorphic mutation in their second allele, it led to the loss of function of TET2 in the patient's CAR T cell. Astonishingly, 94 % of the patient's CD8⁺ T cell compartment was TET2 deficient at the peak of response (Fraietta *et al.* 2018) . The phenotypic and functional changes observed in the patient's CAR T cell subset that were correlated with improved persistence and response were recapitulated in further *in vitro* studies, showing TET2 to be a potential axis for improved CAR T cell function.

Several gene-editing approaches including CRISPR/Cas9, zinc finger nucleases and TALENs have been successfully used to disrupt T cell suppressive genes in T cells. A recent clinical study was conducted in patients with refractory cancer and showed the potential of CRISPR-cas9 edited T cells for cancer therapy (Stadtmauer *et al.* 2020,Hamilton *et al.* 2020,Lu *et al.* 2020). The application of these approaches for the improvement of SAR T cell functionality has a lot of promise.

4.6 *in vivo* functionality – Understanding the shortcomings and room for improvement

As previously mentioned, the use of both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell subpopulations has been shown to be required for efficient and durable clinical responses to ACT (Turtle *et al.* 2016). The SAR used in this study could be successfully transduced in CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ human T cells with great efficiency. Higher tumor infiltration and longer persistence *in vivo* by CD8⁺, and especially CD4⁺ SAR T cells emphasize the necessity of both cell types for the observed anti-tumoral responses. Impaired migration and activation of T cells within tumor tissue are major limiting factors linked to the poor success of advanced T cell–based therapies in solid tumor settings (Slaney *et al.* 2014,Kmiecik *et al.* 2013,Galon *et al.* 2006,Piersma *et al.* 2007). SAR T cells achieved long-

lasting tumor control *in vivo* but failed to completely eradicate established tumors, and these limiting factors are likely to play a role.

As described above, exchange of the signaling endodomains or the addition of structural components was observed to boost the *in vivo* performance of various CARs. As such, the impact of further modifications to SAR design must be investigated in search of strategies to ameliorate the *in vivo* functionality (Lim *et al.* 2017). The additional engineering of SAR T cells with selected chemokine receptors might overcome their limited infiltration into tumor tissue (Rapp *et al.* 2016). Further, the use of dominant- negative TGF- β receptors (Foster *et al.* 2008) or PD-1-CD28 (Kobold *et al.* 2014) switch receptors could help shield the modified T cells from the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment. It is thus reasonable to postulate that treatment failure occurs due to insufficient persistence, recruitment and infiltration of the transferred T cells into the tumor and is a matter of ongoing investigations to improve SAR T cell efficacy.

The *in vivo* downregulation of the MSLN antigen on the tumor cell surface is another potential contributing factor. We applied ex-vivo flow cytometry analysis of tumor tissue in an attempt to do this. However, MSLN expression could not be accurately quantified, as a result of suboptimal staining and shedding of the protein.

5 Conclusions and outlook

In conclusion, we describe a novel modular platform for MHC- unrestricted SAR T cell-based therapy with properties distinct from current approaches. Taken together, the SAR-BiAb platform aligns the advantages of antibody therapy (controllable dosing and reversibility) with that of adoptive T cell therapy (potent anti-tumoral effectors) (Karches *et al.* 2019, Slaney *et al.* 2018).

Beyond what has been demonstrated in the solid tumor setting, the application of this platform for the treatment of hematological diseases is very appealing. The most prevalent resistance mechanism observed following CD19-targeted therapy is target downregulation (Ruella *et al.* 2016). The modularity of the SAR-BiAb platform would offer a flexibility to change the target and redirect the already transferred effector cells if such an event were to occur. In addition, its application in the AML disease setting could also be of interest. Perhaps the greatest challenge hindering the success of adoptive T cell therapy in AML is target specificity, which results from disease heterogeneity and diverse antigen expression on leukemic stem cells (Haubner *et al.* 2019,Perna *et al.* 2017). A patient-specific multi-targeting approach, where BiAbs are added in a simultaneous or sequential manner is an approach that warrants further investigation.

While further development of the separate components, and more extensive testing within and across tumor models is still required before its application in a clinical setting, the SAR-BiAb platform undoubtedly offers new solutions in tumor settings in need of more modular and controllable approaches.

6 Abstract

Adoptive T cell therapy, namely chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cell therapy has been a groundbreaking and effective treatment of relapsed or refractory haematological malignancies. Still, many patients do not respond or relapse with treatment-resistant disease. Additionally, toxicities such as cytokine release syndrome remain problematic. Cancer heterogeneity, beyond cancer types and inter-patient differences, is present within every individual patient. This heterogeneity, especially in the context of solid tumors, has meant that targeted immunotherapies have fared relatively poorly, creating a need for a modular platform with a capacity to target multiple antigens simultaneously and/or sequentially. Likewise, treatment-related toxicities have limited the therapeutic efficacy and breadth of patient selection.

To tackle these caveats through a modular and controllable approach, we equipped T cells with synthetic agonistic receptors (SARs) that are only activated when a tumor-associated antigen and a cross-linking bispecific antibody (BiAb) specific for both SAR T cell and tumor cell are also present. The SAR itself is constituted of an inert extracellular domain in the form of EGFRvIII, that is fused to the T cell activating domains CD28 and CD3ζ. The BiAb employed is a trivalent CrossMab, with two binding arms (2 x Fab) for the tumor-associated antigen (mesothelin), and one binding arm for the SAR receptor (EGFRvIII).

We showed that BiAb triggering of the SAR is conditional upon the binding of the second BiAb specificity. What is particularly advantageous with this approach is that T cell activation may only occur when the BiAb is present and in proximity to the antibody-targeted tumor cell. This conditional T cell activation is an inherent safety feature of the platform, whereby if unwanted levels of T cell activation are observed, depletion of the BiAb from the system could result in the reversal of said activation, thus managing the potential toxicity.

This work was able to determine the validity and efficacy of the approach. Through the generation of several human pancreatic cancer models, and extensive *in vitro* and *in vivo* testing, the platform could be characterized. Its translational relevance and significance as a next-generation adoptive T cell therapy with the potential to plug some gaping pitfalls of current ACT approaches were also shown.

7 Bibliography

1. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell* 2000; 100:57-70.

2. Hanahan D, Weinberg Robert A. Hallmarks of cancer: The next generation. *Cell* 2011; 144:646-74.

3. Balmain A, Barrett JC, Moses H, Renan MJ. How many mutations are required for tumorigenesis? Implications from human cancer data. *Molecular Carcinogenesis* 1993; 7:139-46.

4. Negrini S, Gorgoulis VG, Halazonetis TD. Genomic instability — an evolving hallmark of cancer. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 2010; 11:220-8.

5. Weinberg RA. Oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians* 1994; 44:160-70.

Burnet M.
 Cancer — a biological approach.
 I The Processes Of Control II The Significance of Somatic Mutation 1957; 1:779-86.

7. Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Ikeda H, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. Cancer immunoediting: From immunosurveillance to tumor escape. *Nature Immunology* 2002; 3:991-8.

8. Dunn GP, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. The immunobiology of cancer immunosurveillance and immunoediting. *Immunity* 2004; 21:137-48.

9. Schreiber RD, Old LJ, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting: Integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. *Science* 2011; 331:1565-70.

10. O'Donnell JS, Teng MWL, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting and resistance to T cell-based immunotherapy. *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology* 2019; 16:151-67.

11. Joyce JA, Pollard JW. Microenvironmental regulation of metastasis. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 2009; 9:239-52.

12. Rabinovich GA, Gabrilovich D, Sotomayor EM. Immunosuppressive strategies that are mediated by tumor cells. *Annual Review of Immunology* 2007; 25:267-96.

13. Sakaguchi S, Yamaguchi T, Nomura T, Ono M. Regulatory T cells and immune tolerance.

Cell 2008; 133:775-87.

14. Voigt C, May P, Gottschlich A, Markota A, Wenk D, Gerlach I, Voigt S, Stathopoulos GT, Arendt KAM, Heise C, Rataj F, Janssen K-P, Königshoff M, Winter H, Himsl I, Thasler WE, Schnurr M, Rothenfußer S, Endres S, Kobold S.

Cancer cells induce interleukin-22 production from memory CD4⁺ T cells via interleukin-1 to promote tumor growth.

Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 2017; 114:12994-9.

15. Nawaz M, Shah N, Zanetti BR, Maugeri M, Silvestre RN, Fatima F, Neder L, Valadi H. Extracellular vesicles and matrix remodeling enzymes: The emerging roles in extracellular matrix remodeling, progression of diseases and tissue repair. *Cells* 2018; 7:167.

16. Gorelik L, Flavell RA. Transforming growth factor-β in T-cell biology. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 2002; 2:46-53.

17. Gerlini G, Tun-Kyi A, Dudli C, Burg G, Pimpinelli N, Nestle FO. Metastatic melanoma secreted IL-10 down-regulates cd1 molecules on dendritic cells in metastatic tumor lesions.

The American Journal of Pathology 2004; 165:1853-63.

18. Kurte M, López M, Aguirre A, Escobar A, Aguillón JC, Charo J, Larsen CG, Kiessling R, Salazar-Onfray F.

A synthetic peptide homologous to functional domain of human IL-10 down-regulates expression of mhc class i and transporter associated with antigen processing 1/2 in human melanoma cells. *The Journal of Immunology* 2004; 173:1731-7.

19. Mellor AL, Baban B, Chandler P, Marshall B, Jhaver K, Hansen A, Koni PA, Iwashima M, Munn DH. Cutting edge: Induced indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase expression in dendritic cell subsets suppresses t cell clonal expansion.

The Journal of Immunology 2003; 171:1652-5.

20. Schneider H, Downey J, Smith A, Zinselmeyer BH, Rush C, Brewer JM, Wei B, Hogg N, Garside P, Rudd CE. Reversal of the tcr stop signal by CTLA-4. *Science* 2006; 313:1972-5.

21. Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. *Nature reviews Cancer* 2012; 12:252-64.

22. June CH. Adoptive t cell therapy for cancer in the clinic. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 2007; 117:1466-76.

23. Kalos M, June Carl H. Adoptive T cell transfer for cancer immunotherapy in the era of synthetic biology. *Immunity* 2013; 39:49-60.

24. Melief CJM. Tumor eradication by adoptive transfer of cytototic t lymphocytes. In: Vande Woude GF, Klein G, eds. Advances in cancer research: Academic Press; 1992:143-75.

25. Rosenberg SA, Restifo NP.

Adoptive cell transfer as personalized immunotherapy for human cancer. Science 2015; 348:62-8.

26. Rosenberg SA, Packard BS, Aebersold PM, Solomon D, Topalian SL, Toy ST, Simon P, Lotze MT, Yang JC, Seipp CA, Simpson C, Carter C, Bock S, Schwartzentruber D, Wei JP, White DE. Use of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and interleukin-2 in the immunotherapy of patients with metastatic melanoma.

New England Journal of Medicine 1988; 319:1676-80.

27. Wu R, Forget M-A, Chacon J, Bernatchez C, Haymaker C, Chen JQ, Hwu P, Radvanyi LG. Adoptive T-cell therapy using autologous tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes for metastatic melanoma: Current status and future outlook. The Cancer Journal 2012; 18.

28. Harris DT, Kranz DM. Adoptive t cell therapies: A comparison of T cell receptors and chimeric antigen receptors. Trends in pharmacological sciences 2016; 37:220-30.

29. Wange RL, Samelson LE. Complex complexes: Signaling at the TCR. *Immunity* 1996; 5:197-205.

30. Geiger TL, Leitenberg D, Flavell RA. The tcr ζ-chain immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs are sufficient for the activation and differentiation of primary T lymphocytes. The Journal of Immunology 1999; 162:5931-9.

31. Havnes NM. Snook MB. Trapani JA. Cerruti L. Jane SM. Smyth MJ. Darcy PK. Redirecting mouse ctl against colon carcinoma: Superior signaling efficacy of single-chain variable domain chimeras containing TCR-ζ vs FcεRI-γ. The Journal of Immunology 2001; 166:182-7.

32. Porter DL, Levine BL, Kalos M, Bagg A, June CH. Chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells in chronic lymphoid leukemia. New England Journal of Medicine 2011; 365:725-33.

33. Guedan S, Chen X, Madar A, Carpenito C, McGettigan SE, Frigault MJ, Lee J, Posey AD, Jr., Scholler J, Scholler N, Bonneau R, June CH. Icos-based chimeric antigen receptors program bipolar TH17/TH1 cells. Blood 2014; 124:1070-80.

34. Krogsgaard M, Li Q-j, Sumen C, Huppa JB, Huse M, Davis MM. Agonist/endogenous peptide-MHC heterodimers drive t cell activation and sensitivity. Nature 2005; 434:238-43.

35. Zhang C, Liu J, Zhong JF, Zhang X. Engineering CAR-T cells. Biomarker Research 2017; 5:22.

36. Love PE. Haves SM. Itam-mediated signaling by the T-cell antigen receptor. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology 2010; 2:a002485-a. 37. Kerkar SP, Muranski P, Kaiser A, Boni A, Sanchez-Perez L, Yu Z, Palmer DC, Reger RN, Borman ZA, Zhang L, Morgan RA, Gattinoni L, Rosenberg SA, Trinchieri G, Restifo NP. Tumor-specific CD8⁺ T cells expressing interleukin-12 eradicate established cancers in lymphodepleted hosts.

Cancer Research 2010; 70:6725-34.

38. Chmielewski M, Hombach AA, Abken H. Of cars and trucks: Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells engineered with an inducible cytokine to modulate the tumor stroma. Immunological Reviews 2014; 257:83-90.

39. Nisonoff A, Wissler FC, Lipman LN. Properties of the major component of a peptic digest of rabbit antibody. Science 1960; 132:1770-1.

40. Brinkmann U, Kontermann RE. The making of bispecific antibodies. mAbs 2017; 9:182-212.

41. Birch JR, Racher AJ. Antibody production. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews 2006; 58:671-85.

42. Demarest SJ, Glaser SM. Antibody therapeutics, antibody engineering, and the merits of protein stability. Current opinion in drug discovery & development 2008; 11:675-87.

43. Lowe D, Dudgeon K, Rouet R, Schofield P, Jermutus L, Christ D. Aggregation, stability, and formulation of human antibody therapeutics. In: Donev R, ed. Advances in protein chemistry and structural biology: Academic Press; 2011:41-61.

44. Ridgway JBB, Presta LG, Carter P. 'Knobs-into-holes' engineering of antibody CH3 domains for heavy chain heterodimerization. Protein Engineering, Design and Selection 1996; 9:617-21.

45. Merchant AM, Zhu Z, Yuan JQ, Goddard A, Adams CW, Presta LG, Carter P. An efficient route to human bispecific IgG. Nature Biotechnology 1998; 16:677-81.

46. Schaefer W, Regula JT, Bähner M, Schanzer J, Croasdale R, Dürr H, Gassner C, Georges G, Kettenberger H, Imhof-Jung S, Schwaiger M, Stubenrauch KG, Sustmann C, Thomas M, Scheuer W, Klein C.

Immunoglobulin domain crossover as a generic approach for the production of bispecific IgG antibodies. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 2011; 108:11187-92.

47. Gunasekaran K, Pentony M, Shen M, Garrett L, Forte C, Woodward A, Ng SB, Born T, Retter M, Manchulenko K, Sweet H, Foltz IN, Wittekind M, Yan W. Enhancing antibody Fc heterodimer formation through electrostatic steering effects: Applications to bispecific molecules and monovalent IgG.

Journal of Biological Chemistry 2010; 285:19637-46.

48. Labrijn AF, Janmaat ML, Reichert JM, Parren PWHI.

Bispecific antibodies: A mechanistic review of the pipeline. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery 2019: 18:585-608.

49. Kobold S, Steffen J, Chaloupka M, Grassmann S, Henkel J, Castoldi R, Zeng Y, Chmielewski M, Schmollinger JC, Schnurr M, Rothenfußer S, Schendel DJ, Abken H, Sustmann C, Niederfellner G, Klein C, Bourguin C, Endres S.

Selective bispecific T cell recruiting antibody and antitumor activity of adoptive t cell transfer. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute 2014; 107.

50. Boyiadzis MM, Dhodapkar MV, Brentjens RJ, Kochenderfer JN, Neelapu SS, Maus MV, Porter DL, Maloney DG, Grupp SA, Mackall CL, June CH, Bishop MR.

Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T therapies for the treatment of hematologic malignancies: Clinical perspective and significance.

Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer 2018; 6:137.

51. Schmidbauer ML.

Funktionalität, spezifität und wirkmechanismus von synthetic agonistic receptor (SAR) T- zellen in kombination mit tetravalenten, bispezifischen antikörpern.

Dissertation, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München 2018.

52. Karches CH.

Characterization of the influence of antibody valency on murine synthetic agonistic receptor-transduced t cell activation and action.

Dissertation, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München 2019.

53. Benmebarek M-R, Karches CH, Cadilha BL, Lesch S, Endres S, Kobold S. Killing mechanisms of chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells. International journal of molecular sciences 2019; 20:1283.

54. Murphy KM, Stockinger B.

Effector T cell plasticity: Flexibility in the face of changing circumstances. Nature Immunology 2010; 11:674-80.

55. Murphy KM, Ouyang W, Farrar JD, Yang J, Ranganath S, Asnagli H, Afkarian M, Murphy TL. Signaling and transcription in t helper development. Annual Review of Immunology 2000; 18:451-94.

56. Hwang ES, Szabo SJ, Schwartzberg PL, Glimcher LH. T helper cell fate specified by kinase-mediated interaction of T-bet with GATA-3. Science 2005; 307:430-3.

57. Zheng Y, Josefowicz S, Chaudhry A, Peng XP, Forbush K, Rudensky AY. Role of conserved non-coding DNA elements in the Foxp3 gene in regulatory T-cell fate. Nature 2010; 463:808-12.

58. Nurieva R, Yang XO, Martinez G, Zhang Y, Panopoulos AD, Ma L, Schluns K, Tian Q, Watowich SS, Jetten AM, Dong C. Essential autocrine regulation by IL-21 in the generation of inflammatory T cells. Nature 2007; 448:480-3.

59. Zhou L, Chong MMW, Littman DR. Plasticity of CD4+ T cell lineage differentiation. Immunity 2009; 30:646-55.

60. Wilson CB, Rowell E, Sekimata M. Epigenetic control of T-helper-cell differentiation. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 2009; 9:91-105.

61. Jiang Y, Li Y, Zhu B. T-cell exhaustion in the tumor microenvironment. *Cell Death & Disease* 2015; 6:e1792-e.

62. Wherry EJ, Kurachi M. Molecular and cellular insights into T cell exhaustion. *Nature reviews Immunology* 2015; 15:486-99.

63. Heckman KL, Pease LR. Gene splicing and mutagenesis by PCR-driven overlap extension. *Nature Protocols* 2007; 2:924-32.

64. Engels B, Cam H, Schüler T, Indraccolo S, Gladow M, Baum C, Blankenstein T, Uckert W. Retroviral vectors for high-level transgene expression in T lymphocytes. *Human Gene Therapy* 2003; 14:1155-68.

65. Karches CH, Benmebarek M-R, Schmidbauer ML, Kurzay M, Klaus R, Geiger M, Rataj F, Cadilha BL, Lesch S, Heise C, Murr R, vom Berg J, Jastroch M, Lamp D, Ding J, Duewell P, Niederfellner G, Sustmann C, Endres S, Klein C, Kobold S.

Bispecific antibodies enable synthetic agonistic receptor-transduced T cells for tumor immunotherapy. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2019; 25:5890-900.

66. Montano N, Cenci T, Martini M, D'Alessandris QG, Pelacchi F, Ricci-Vitiani L, Maira G, De Maria R, Larocca LM, Pallini R. Expression of EGFRvIII in glioblastoma: Prognostic significance revisited. *Neoplasia (New York, NY)* 2011; 13:1113-21.

67. Woltjer RL, Lukas TJ, Staros JV. Direct identification of residues of the epidermal growth factor receptor in close proximity to the amino terminus of bound epidermal growth factor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 1992; 89:7801-5.

68. Gong H, Kovar JL, Cheung L, Rosenthal EL, Olive DM. A comparative study of affibody, panitumumab, and EGF for near-infrared fluorescence imaging of egfrand egfrviii-expressing tumors. *Cancer Biology & Therapy* 2014; 15:185-93.

69. Huang H-JS, Nagane M, Klingbeil CK, Lin H, Nishikawa R, Ji X-D, Huang C-M, Gill GN, Wiley HS, Cavenee WK.

The enhanced tumorigenic activity of a mutant epidermal growth factor receptor common in human cancers is mediated by threshold levels of constitutive tyrosine phosphorylation and unattenuated signaling. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1997; 272:2927-35.

70. Ymer SI, Greenall SA, Cvrljevic A, Cao DX, Donoghue JF, Epa VC, Scott AM, Adams TE, Johns TG. Glioma specific extracellular missense mutations in the first cysteine rich region of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) initiate ligand independent activation. *Cancers* 2011; 3:2032-49.

71. Patel D, Lahiji A, Patel S, Franklin M, Jimeniz X, Hicklin DJ, Kang X. Monoclonal antibody cetuximab binds to and down-regulates constitutively activated epidermal growth factor receptor viii on the cell surface. *Anticancer Research* 2007; 27:3355-66.

72. Paszkiewicz PJ, Fräßle SP, Srivastava S, Sommermeyer D, Hudecek M, Drexler I, Sadelain M, Liu L, Jensen MC, Riddell SR, Busch DH.

Targeted antibody-mediated depletion of murine CD19 CAR T cells permanently reverses B cell aplasia. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 2016; 126:4262-72.

73. De Luca A, Lamura L, Strizzi L, Roma C, D'Antonio A, Margaryan N, Pirozzi G, Hsu MY, Botti G, Mari E, Hendrix MJC, Salomon DS, Normanno N. Expression and functional role of cripto-1 in cutaneous melanoma. *British Journal of Cancer* 2011; 105:1030-8.

74. Aykul S, Parenti A, Chu KY, Reske J, Floer M, Ralston A, Martinez-Hackert E. Biochemical and cellular analysis reveals ligand binding specificities, a molecular basis for ligand recognition, and membrane association-dependent activities of cripto-1 and cryptic. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2017; 292:4138-51.

75. Eshhar Z, Waks T, Gross G, Schindler DG.

Specific activation and targeting of cytotoxic lymphocytes through chimeric single chains consisting of antibody-binding domains and the gamma or zeta subunits of the immunoglobulin and t-cell receptors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1993; 90:720-4.

76. Maher J, Brentjens RJ, Gunset G, Rivière I, Sadelain M. Human T-lymphocyte cytotoxicity and proliferation directed by a single chimeric TCRζ /CD28 receptor. *Nature Biotechnology* 2002; 20:70-5.

77. Zhong X-S, Matsushita M, Plotkin J, Riviere I, Sadelain M. Chimeric antigen receptors combining 4-1BB and CD28 signaling domains augment Pl3kinase/AKT/BCLxl activation and CD8+ T cell-mediated tumor eradication. *Molecular Therapy* 2010; 18:413-20.

78. Kawalekar OU, O'Connor RS, Fraietta JA, Guo L, McGettigan SE, Posey AD, Patel PR, Guedan S, Scholler J, Keith B, Snyder NW, Blair IA, Milone MC, June CH. Distinct signaling of coreceptors regulates specific metabolism pathways and impacts memory development in CAR T cells. *Immunity* 2016; 44:380-90.

79. Philipson BI, O'Connor RS, May MJ, June CH, Albelda SM, Milone MC. 4-1BB costimulation promotes car t cell survival through noncanonical NF-κB signaling. *Science Signaling* 2020; 13:eaay8248.

80. Ying Z, He T, Wang X, Zheng W, Lin N, Tu M, Xie Y, Ping L, Zhang C, Liu W, Deng L, Qi F, Ding Y, Lu X-a, Song Y, Zhu J. Parallel comparison of 4-1BB or CD28 co-stimulated CD19-targeted CAR-T cells for B cell non-hodgkins lymphoma.

Molecular Therapy - Oncolytics 2019; 15:60-8.

81. Pearce EL, Pearce EJ. Metabolic pathways in immune cell activation and quiescence. *Immunity* 2013; 38:633-43. 82. Wang R, Green DR. Metabolic checkpoints in activated T cells. *Nature Immunology* 2012; 13:907-15.

83. Pearce EL, Walsh MC, Cejas PJ, Harms GM, Shen H, Wang L-S, Jones RG, Choi Y. Enhancing CD8 T-cell memory by modulating fatty acid metabolism. *Nature* 2009; 460:103-7.

84. van der Windt GJW, O'Sullivan D, Everts B, Huang SC-C, Buck MD, Curtis JD, Chang C-H, Smith AM, Ai T, Faubert B, Jones RG, Pearce EJ, Pearce EL.

CD8 memory t cells have a bioenergetic advantage that underlies their rapid recall ability. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2013; 110:14336-41.

85. Menk AV, Scharping NE, Rivadeneira DB, Calderon MJ, Watson MJ, Dunstane D, Watkins SC, Delgoffe GM.

4-1BB costimulation induces T cell mitochondrial function and biogenesis enabling cancer immunotherapeutic responses.

Journal of Experimental Medicine 2018; 215:1091-100.

86. Hu W, Huang X, Huang X, Chen W, Hao L, Chen Z.

Chimeric antigen receptor modified t cell (CAR-T) co-expressed with ICOSI-41BB promote CAR-T proliferation and tumor rejection.

Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy 2019; 118:109333.

87. Guedan S, Posey AD, Jr., Shaw C, Wing A, Da T, Patel PR, McGettigan SE, Casado-Medrano V, Kawalekar OU, Uribe-Herranz M, Song D, Melenhorst JJ, Lacey SF, Scholler J, Keith B, Young RM, June CH.

Enhancing car t cell persistence through ICOS and 4-1BB costimulation. *JCI Insight* 2018; 3:e96976.

88. Liu X, Jiang S, Fang C, Yang S, Olalere D, Pequignot EC, Cogdill AP, Li N, Ramones M, Granda B, Zhou L, Loew A, Young RM, June CH, Zhao Y.

Affinity-tuned erbb2 or egfr chimeric antigen receptor T cells exhibit an increased therapeutic index against tumors in mice.

Cancer Research 2015; 75:3596-607.

89. Yuraszeck T, Kasichayanula S, Benjamin JE. Translation and clinical development of bispecific T-cell engaging antibodies for cancer treatment. *Clinical pharmacology and therapeutics* 2017; 101:634-45.

90. Hoffmann P, Hofmeister R, Brischwein K, Brandl C, Crommer S, Bargou R, Itin C, Prang N, Baeuerle PA.

Serial killing of tumor cells by cytotoxic T cells redirected with a cd19-/cd3-bispecific single-chain antibody construct.

International Journal of Cancer 2005; 115:98-104.

91. Herrmann M, Krupka C, Deiser K, Brauchle B, Marcinek A, Ogrinc Wagner A, Rataj F, Mocikat R, Metzeler KH, Spiekermann K, Kobold S, Fenn NC, Hopfner K-P, Subklewe M.

Bifunctional PD-1 \times aCD3 \times aCD33 fusion protein reverses adaptive immune escape in acute myeloid leukemia.

Blood 2018; 132:2484-94.

92. Leong SR, Sukumaran S, Hristopoulos M, Totpal K, Stainton S, Lu E, Wong A, Tam L, Newman R, Vuillemenot BR, Ellerman D, Gu C, Mathieu M, Dennis MS, Nguyen A, Zheng B, Zhang C, Lee G, Chu Y-W, Prell RA, Lin K, Laing ST, Polson AG. An anti-CD3/anti–CLL-1 bispecific antibody for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia.

An anti-CD3/anti–CLL-1 bispecific antibody for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* 2017; 129:609-18.

93. Bortoletto N, Scotet E, Myamoto Y, D'Oro U, Lanzavecchia A. Optimizing anti-CD3 affinity for effective t cell targeting against tumor cells. *European Journal of Immunology* 2002; 32:3102-7.

94. Kufer P, Mack M, Gruber R, Lutterbüse R, Zettl F, Riethmüller G. Construction and biological activity of a recombinant bispecific single-chain antibody designed for therapy of minimal residual colorectal cancer. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy* 1997; 45:193-7.

95. Perez P, Hoffman RW, Shaw S, Bluestone JA, Segal DM. Specific targeting of cytotoxic t cells by anti-t3 linked to anti-target cell antibody. *Nature* 1985; 316:354-6.

96. Wolf E, Hofmeister R, Kufer P, Schlereth B, Baeuerle PA. Bites: Bispecific antibody constructs with unique anti-tumor activity. *Drug Discovery Today* 2005; 10:1237-44.

97. Petricevic B, Laengle J, Singer J, Sachet M, Fazekas J, Steger G, Bartsch R, Jensen-Jarolim E, Bergmann M.

Trastuzumab mediates antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity and phagocytosis to the same extent in both adjuvant and metastatic her2/neu breast cancer patients. *Journal of Translational Medicine* 2013; 11:307.

98. Schlothauer T, Herter S, Koller CF, Grau-Richards S, Steinhart V, Spick C, Kubbies M, Klein C, Umaña P, Mössner E.

Novel human IgG1 and IgG4 fc-engineered antibodies with completely abolished immune effector functions.

Protein Engineering, Design and Selection 2016; 29:457-66.

99. Klein C, Schaefer W, Regula JT, Dumontet C, Brinkmann U, Bacac M, Umaña P. Engineering therapeutic bispecific antibodies using crossmab technology. *Methods* 2019; 154:21-31.

100. Regula JT, Lundh von Leithner P, Foxton R, Barathi VA, Cheung CMG, Bo Tun SB, Wey YS, Iwata D, Dostalek M, Moelleken J, Stubenrauch KG, Nogoceke E, Widmer G, Strassburger P, Koss MJ, Klein C, Shima DT, Hartmann G.

Targeting key angiogenic pathways with a bispecific crossmab optimized for neovascular eye diseases. *EMBO Molecular Medicine* 2016; 8:1265-88.

101. Dustin ML, Chakraborty AK, Shaw AS. Understanding the structure and function of the immunological synapse. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology* 2010; 2:a002311-a.

102. Monks CRF, Freiberg BA, Kupfer H, Sciaky N, Kupfer A. Three-dimensional segregation of supramolecular activation clusters in T cells. *Nature* 1998; 395:82-6. 103. Dustin ML. The immunological synapse. *Cancer Immunology Research* 2014; 2:1023-33.

104. Martín-Cófreces NB, Robles-Valero J, Cabrero JR, Mittelbrunn M, Gordón-Alonso M, Sung C-H, Alarcón B, Vázquez J, Sánchez-Madrid F.
Mtoc translocation modulates is formation and controls sustained T cell signaling. *The Journal of cell biology* 2008; 182:951-62.

105. Davenport AJ, Cross RS, Watson KA, Liao Y, Shi W, Prince HM, Beavis PA, Trapani JA, Kershaw MH, Ritchie DS, Darcy PK, Neeson PJ, Jenkins MR. Chimeric antigen receptor t cells form nonclassical and potent immune synapses driving rapid cytotoxicity.

Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 2018; 115:E2068-E76.

106. Offner S, Hofmeister R, Romaniuk A, Kufer P, Baeuerle PA. Induction of regular cytolytic T cell synapses by bispecific single-chain antibody constructs on mhc class inegative tumor cells. *Molecular Immunology* 2006; 43:763-71.

107. Xiong W, Chen Y, Kang X, Chen Z, Zheng P, Hsu Y-H, Jang JH, Qin L, Liu H, Dotti G, Liu D. Immunological synapse predicts effectiveness of chimeric antigen receptor cells. *Molecular therapy : the journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy* 2018; 26:963-75.

108. Jenkins MR, Griffiths GM. The synapse and cytolytic machinery of cytotoxic T cells. *Current opinion in immunology* 2010; 22:308-13.

109. Asgarov K, Balland J, Tirole C, Bouard A, Mougey V, Ramos D, Barroso A, Zangiacomi V, Jary M, Kim S, Gonzalez-Pajuelo M, Royer B, de Haard H, Clark A, Wijdenes J, Borg C. A new anti-mesothelin antibody targets selectively the membrane-associated form. *mAbs* 2017; 9:567-77.

110. Runa F, Hamalian S, Meade K, Shisgal P, Gray PC, Kelber JA. Tumor microenvironment heterogeneity: Challenges and opportunities. *Current molecular biology reports* 2017; 3:218-29.

111. Lesch S, Benmebarek M-R, Cadilha BL, Stoiber S, Subklewe M, Endres S, Kobold S. Determinants of response and resistance to CAR T cell therapy. *Seminars in Cancer Biology* 2019.

112. Fitzgerald JC, Weiss SL, Maude SL, Barrett DM, Lacey SF, Melenhorst JJ, Shaw P, Berg RA, June CH, Porter DL, Frey NV, Grupp SA, Teachey DT.

Cytokine release syndrome after chimeric antigen receptor t cell therapy for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Critical Care Medicine* 2017; 45.

113. Watanabe K, Kuramitsu S, Posey AD, June CH. Expanding the therapeutic window for CAR T cell therapy in solid tumors: The knowns and unknowns of car t cell biology. *Frontiers in Immunology* 2018; 9:2486.

114. Ruella M, Maus MV. Catch me if you can: Leukemia escape after CD19-directed T cell immunotherapies. *Computational and structural biotechnology journal* 2016; 14:357-62. 115. Majzner RG, Mackall CL. Tumor antigen escape from CAR T-cell therapy. *Cancer Discovery* 2018; 8:1219-26.

116. Wang D, Aguilar B, Starr R, Alizadeh D, Brito A, Sarkissian A, Ostberg JR, Forman SJ, Brown CE. Glioblastoma-targeted CD4+ CAR T cells mediate superior antitumor activity. *JCI Insight* 2018; 3.

117. Turtle CJ, Hanafi L-A, Berger C, Gooley TA, Cherian S, Hudecek M, Sommermeyer D, Melville K, Pender B, Budiarto TM, Robinson E, Steevens NN, Chaney C, Soma L, Chen X, Yeung C, Wood B, Li D, Cao J, Heimfeld S, Jensen MC, Riddell SR, Maloney DG.

CD19 CAR–T cells of defined CD4+:CD8+ composition in adult B cell all patients. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 2016; 126:2123-38.

118. Eyquem J, Mansilla-Soto J, Giavridis T, van der Stegen SJC, Hamieh M, Cunanan KM, Odak A, Gönen M, Sadelain M. Targeting a car to the trac locus with CRIPSR/Cas9 enhances tumour rejection.

Nature 2017; 543:113-7.

119. Fraietta JA, Nobles CL, Sammons MA, Lundh S, Carty SA, Reich TJ, Cogdill AP, Morrissette JJD, DeNizio JE, Reddy S, Hwang Y, Gohil M, Kulikovskaya I, Nazimuddin F, Gupta M, Chen F, Everett JK, Alexander KA, Lin-Shiao E, Gee MH, Liu X, Young RM, Ambrose D, Wang Y, Xu J, Jordan MS, Marcucci KT, Levine BL, Garcia KC, Zhao Y, Kalos M, Porter DL, Kohli RM, Lacey SF, Berger SL, Bushman FD, June CH, Melenhorst JJ.

Disruption of tet2 promotes the therapeutic efficacy of CD19-targeted T cells. *Nature* 2018; 558:307-12.

120. Stadtmauer EA, Fraietta JA, Davis MM, Cohen AD, Weber KL, Lancaster E, Mangan PA, Kulikovskaya I, Gupta M, Chen F, Tian L, Gonzalez VE, Xu J, Jung I-y, Melenhorst JJ, Plesa G, Shea J, Matlawski T, Cervini A, Gaymon AL, Desjardins S, Lamontagne A, Salas-Mckee J, Fesnak A, Siegel DL, Levine BL, Jadlowsky JK, Young RM, Chew A, Hwang W-T, Hexner EO, Carreno BM, Nobles CL, Bushman FD, Parker KR, Qi Y, Satpathy AT, Chang HY, Zhao Y, Lacey SF, June CH. Crispr-engineered T cells in patients with refractory cancer. *Science* 2020; 367:eaba7365.

121. Hamilton JR, Doudna JA. Knocking out barriers to engineered cell activity. *Science* 2020; 367:976-7.

122. Lu Y, Xue J, Deng T, Zhou X, Yu K, Deng L, Huang M, Yi X, Liang M, Wang Y, Shen H, Tong R, Wang W, Li L, Song J, Li J, Su X, Ding Z, Gong Y, Zhu J, Wang Y, Zou B, Zhang Y, Li Y, Zhou L, Liu Y, Yu M, Wang Y, Zhang X, Yin L, Xia X, Zeng Y, Zhou Q, Ying B, Chen C, Wei Y, Li W, Mok T. Safety and feasibility of CRIPSR-edited T cells in patients with refractory non-small-cell lung cancer. *Nature Medicine* 2020; 26:732-40.

123. Slaney CY, Kershaw MH, Darcy PK. Trafficking of t cells into tumors. *Cancer Research* 2014; 74:7168-74.

124. Kmiecik J, Poli A, Brons NHC, Waha A, Eide GE, Enger PØ, Zimmer J, Chekenya M.

Elevated CD3⁺ and CD8⁺ tumor-infiltrating immune cells correlate with prolonged survival in glioblastoma patients despite integrated immunosuppressive mechanisms in the tumor microenvironment and at the systemic level.

Journal of Neuroimmunology 2013; 264:71-83.

125. Galon J, Costes A, Sanchez-Cabo F, Kirilovsky A, Mlecnik B, Lagorce-Pagès C, Tosolini M, Camus M, Berger A, Wind P, Zinzindohoué F, Bruneval P, Cugnenc P-H, Trajanoski Z, Fridman W-H, Pagès F. Type, density, and location of immune cells within human colorectal tumors predict clinical outcome. *Science* 2006; 313:1960-4.

126. Piersma SJ, Jordanova ES, van Poelgeest MIE, Kwappenberg KMC, van der Hulst JM, Drijfhout JW, Melief CJM, Kenter GG, Fleuren GJ, Offringa R, van der Burg SH. High number of intraepithelial CD8⁺ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes is associated with the absence of lymph node metastases in patients with large early-stage cervical cancer. *Cancer Research* 2007; 67:354-61.

127. Lim WA, June CH. The principles of engineering immune cells to treat cancer. *Cell* 2017; 168:724-40.

128. Rapp M, Grassmann S, Chaloupka M, Layritz P, Kruger S, Ormanns S, Rataj F, Janssen K-P, Endres S, Anz D, Kobold S.

C-c chemokine receptor type-4 transduction of T cells enhances interaction with dendritic cells, tumor infiltration and therapeutic efficacy of adoptive t cell transfer. *OncoImmunology* 2016; 5:e1105428.

129. Foster AE, Dotti G, Lu A, Khalil M, Brenner MK, Heslop HE, Rooney CM, Bollard CM. Antitumor activity of ebv-specific T lymphocytes transduced with a dominant negative TGF-beta receptor. *Journal of immunotherapy (Hagerstown, Md : 1997)* 2008; 31:500-5.

130. Slaney CY, Wang P, Darcy PK, Kershaw MH.

Cars versus bites: A comparison between T cell–redirection strategies for cancer treatment. *Cancer Discovery* 2018; 8:924-34.

131. Haubner S, Perna F, Köhnke T, Schmidt C, Berman S, Augsberger C, Schnorfeil FM, Krupka C, Lichtenegger FS, Liu X, Kerbs P, Schneider S, Metzeler KH, Spiekermann K, Hiddemann W, Greif PA, Herold T, Sadelain M, Subklewe M.

Coexpression profile of leukemic stem cell markers for combinatorial targeted therapy in AML. *Leukemia* 2019; 33:64-74.

132. Perna F, Berman SH, Soni RK, Mansilla-Soto J, Eyquem J, Hamieh M, Hendrickson RC, Brennan CW, Sadelain M.

Integrating proteomics and transcriptomics for systematic combinatorial chimeric antigen receptor therapy of AML.

Cancer cell 2017; 32:506-19.e5.

8 Abbreviations

ACT	Adoptive T cell therapy
ALL	Acute lymphoblastic leukemia
AML	Acute myeloid leukemia
APC	Antigen presenting cell
BiAb	Bispecific antibody
BiTE	Bispecific T cell engager
CAR	Chimeric antigen receptor
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CRISPR	Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats
CRISPR CrossMab	Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats Immunoglobulin domain crossover
CRISPR CrossMab DNA	Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats Immunoglobulin domain crossover Deoxyribonucleic acid
CRISPR CrossMab DNA EGFR	Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats Immunoglobulin domain crossover Deoxyribonucleic acid Epidermal growth factor receptor
CRISPR CrossMab DNA EGFR EGFRvIII	Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats Immunoglobulin domain crossover Deoxyribonucleic acid Epidermal growth factor receptor Epidermal growth factor receptor variant three
CRISPR CrossMab DNA EGFR EGFRvIII EGTA	Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeatsImmunoglobulin domain crossoverDeoxyribonucleic acidEpidermal growth factor receptorEpidermal growth factor receptor variant threeEgtazic acid
CRISPR CrossMab DNA EGFR EGFRvIII EGTA EGF	Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeatsImmunoglobulin domain crossoverDeoxyribonucleic acidEpidermal growth factor receptorEpidermal growth factor receptor variant threeEgtazic acidEpidermal growth factor

FcRn	Neonatal Fc receptor
FcγR	Fc gamma receptor
FasL	Fas ligand
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
ffLuc	Firefly luciferase
GZMB	Granzyme B
ICOS	Inducible T cell costimulator
IFN	Interferon
lg	Immunoglobulin
IL	Interleukin
IS	Immunological synapse
ΙΤΑΜ	Immunotyrosine activation motif
KiH	Knob into hole
Lck	Lymphocyte-specific protein tyrosine kinase
LFA-1	Lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1
MCS	Multiple cloning site
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex
ММР	Matrix metalloproteinase

MSLN	Mesothelin
мтос	Microtubule organizing centre
NF-kB	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
РІЗК	Phosphoinositide 3-kinase
SAR	Synthetic agonistic receptor
scFv	Single chain variable fragment
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SMAC	Supramolecular activation cluster
TALEN	Transcription activator-like effector nuclease
TCR	T cell receptor
TET2	Tet methylcytosine dioxygenase 2
ТМЕ	Tumor microenvironment
TIL	Tumor infiltrating lymphocyte
TRAC	T cell receptor α constant
TGF-β	Tumor growth factor-β
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor

TNFR	Tumor necrosis factor receptor
UT	Untransduced
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

9 Publications

1. Mohamed-Reda Benmebarek*, Clara Helke Karches*, Bruno Loureiro Cadilha, Stefanie Lesch, Stefan Endres and Sebastian Kobold (* contributed equally). Killing mechanisms of chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells.

International Journal of Molecular Science 2019: 20:1283

2. Clara Helke Karches*, **Mohamed-Reda Benmebarek***, Moritz Luigi Schmidbauer, Mathias Kurzay, Richard Klaus, Martina Geiger, Felicitas Rataj, Bruno Loureiro Cadilha, Stefanie Lesch, Constanze Heise, Ramona Murr, Johannes vom Berg, Martin Jastroch, Daniel Lamp, Jian Ding, Peter Duewell, Gerhard Niederfellner, Claudio Sustmann, Stefan Endres, Christian Klein and Sebastian Kobold (* contributed equally).

Bispecific antibodies enable synthetic agonistic receptor-transduced T cells for tumor immunotherapy.

Clinical Cancer Research 2019; 25:5890-900.

3. Stefan Stoiber, Bruno Loureiro Cadilha, **Mohamed-Reda Benmebarek**, Stefanie Lesch, Stefan Endres, Sebastian Kobold.

Limitations in the design of chimeric antigen receptors for cancer therapy. *Cells* 2019; 8:472

4. Stefanie Lesch*, **Mohamed-Reda Benmebarek***, Bruno Loureiro Cadilha*, Stefan Stoiber*, Marion Subklewe, Stefan Endres, Sebastian Kobold (* contributed equally). Determinants of response and resistance to car t cell therapy. *Seminars in Cancer Biology* 2019.

11 Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my host institution, the Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München for the opportunity to complete my doctoral title at such a brilliant university.

More than anywhere else, The Division of Clinical Pharmacology has been my home for the better part of the last four years. I am grateful to have had the pleasure to develop and learn in such a nurturing and friendly environment. I will forever be connected and in debt.

I had the opportunity to be a part of the best PhD program anyone could ask for. The European Training Network Immutrain was an experience to cherish. Through my experiences and training opportunities, I learned so much about the importance of collaboration, international mobility and the need to always strive to be better. A big thank you to Marie Sklodowska-Curie Actions and the European Commission, and of course to Seb and Stefan for making it happen, it was a blast.

My fellow Immutrainees, such a wonderful bunch of grounded, driven and kind young scientists. I thoroughly enjoyed our European tour together. I'm sure our paths will continue to cross. The Munich crew, Alex, Javi, Leo and Adele you guys were there during the best and most challenging times. I couldn't have done it without you. Abbass, it was a true pleasure, beyond the fruitful collaborations and work, our project development sessions are especially memorable.

Bruno, working together with you has been a pleasure and an honour, I learned so much from you. I'm sure this is just the beginning bruv.

Stoiber, more than the hive mind sessions and fresh air, it was a pleasure to get to know you.

A big thank you to Martina and Ramona for their swift help, antibody production and collaboration.

Thank you to Christian Klein for mentoring me throughout my doctoral studies. You've been a great example and mentor and have played an important part in my continued scientific development. I am enjoying our continued scientific collaboration.

Seb, or Professor Kobold now ^(C), I am forever grateful for the opportunity you gave me in allowing me to join your group. You played the most important role in my scientific development. Beyond that, you taught about the necessity to love what I do. Your outstanding critical thinking, planning and discipline continue to impress me on a regular basis, as I continue to learn from you. You're a wonderful boss. Thank you,

67

Stefan Endres, I couldn't think of a better Division leader even if I had to make one up. The way in which you run your division is utterly brilliant. It is thanks to you that we have such a wonderful place to work and develop. Your guidance and continued reinforcement have been and continue to be invaluable to me. Thank you.

Alex and GM, my brothers. Being with you has shaped who I am today. You know how important you are. HJ our soldier, I'm sure we'll meet again soon. George and Rubz, your potential is endless, and I am proud of you both.

To all my friends that I didn't mention, you know who you are and how important you've been to me and my journey.

King's College London, my stomping ground for more than half a decade. I am so grateful for my time there. I learned the importance of being better and never settling for mediocre. I am grateful for all the friends I made there, thank you! Shahram and Alan, I couldn't have asked for a better pair of supervisors who allowed me to develop as well as make mistakes.

To all my teachers and friends at Christ's College Finchley, you were so important to my development as a student and as a person. Special mention to my Biology teacher Mrs Terry and my Chemistry teacher Mr. Persaud. Thank you!

Marina, amor meu. No ho hauria pogut fer sense tu! I joke and call you my ball and chain, but in reality, you are my rock, without whom I'd be lost. We got through this journey together. I know it is just the beginning and I can't wait for what's to come.

To my family. Sakina and Samir, without all the sacrifices you made for us none of us would be where we are today. You are wonderful parents and everything I have I owe to you! Serine, Houda, Esme, Adam and Idris. Your love and support mean so much to me!

This thesis is dedicated to my grandfather Abdesslem Ouarezguia.

68